TALLINN UNIVERSITY OF TECHNOLOGY

School of Business and Governance Department of Economics and Finance

Jekaterina Maslennikova PARENTAL INVOLVEMENT AND SCHOOL STUDENTS' OUTCOMES

Master's thesis

Programme TAAM, specialisation Economic Analysis

Supervisor: Simona Ferraro, PhD

Tallinn 2022

I hereby declare that I have compiled the thesis independently and all works, important standpoints and data by other authors have been properly referenced and the same paper has not been previously presented for grading. The document length is 14752 words from the introduction to the end of conclusion.

Jekaterina Maslennikova

(signature, date)

Student code: 204117TAAM Student e-mail address: jekaterinamas@hotmail.com

Supervisor: Simona Ferraro, PhD: The paper conforms to requirements in force

(signature, date)

Chairman of the Defence Committee: Permitted to the defence

.....

(name, signature, date)

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	4
INTRODUCTION	5
1. LITERATURE REVIEW	8
1.1. Education and economic growth	8
1.2. Definition of parental involvement and its importance	9
1.3. Types of parental involvement	11
1.3.1. School-based involvement	
1.3.2. Home-based involvement	13
1.4. Effect of parental involvement on students' achievements	14
1.4.1. Positive impact	14
1.4.2. Negative impact	15
2. DATA AND METHODOLOGY	
2.1. Data	
2.2. Methodology	21
2.2.1. Choosing an instrumental variable (IV)	
2.2.2. Variables explanation and processing	
3. EMPIRICAL ANALYSIS AND RESULTS	40
3.1. Descriptive statistics	40
3.2. Model estimation	43
3.3. Results	49
CONCLUSION	51
KOKKUVÕTE	54
LIST OF REFERENCES	57
APPENDICES	70
Appendix 1. Non-exclusive licence	70

ABSTRACT

The aim of the study is to determine and assess the effect of parental involvement in education on the academic performance of students. To achieve this goal, previous theoretical and empirical studies are analyzed. In addition, an econometric analysis is performed using RStudio software program for data from the Programme for International Student Assessment 2018 survey. The research methods used in this master's thesis are the following: the hierarchical cluster analysis, the ordinary least squares method, the two-stage least squares, also known as the instrumental variables method, and the non-linear two-stage least squares method.

The following research questions are asked in the master's thesis:

- 1. What are the positive and negative aspects of parental involvement in student education?
- 2. Is parental involvement positively or negatively associated with student's outcomes?

The first question of this master's thesis received an answer, according to which involvement can be divided into two types: *(i)* positive parental involvement, which is believed to reduce school absenteeism as well as promote children's social, emotional and academic growth, and *(ii)* negative parental involvement meaning overinvolvement, which implies a negative effect on students' success. Regarding the second question of the study, the econometric analysis confirmed that an increase in the index of parental involvement by 1 unit leads to an increase in the student's academic results by 24.75 points.

Keywords: Parental involvement, education, Programme of International Student Assessment, PISA, two-stage least squares method

INTRODUCTION

Investment in human capital is a central component of economic development policies in most countries and education as the main form of investment in human capital. (Jones 2016) This researcher also discovered that raising labour force educational levels boosted economic growth. High education is a necessity for the production of highly qualified specialists, which, in turn, is associated with the development of organizations and the economy as a whole. Thus, education plays a key role in the economic growth of countries. The level and quality of education can be viewed in terms of school student's performance, and in order to be able to understand this process, it is necessary to know the factors that influence student's achievements, because in the future this will affect the level of education of the workforce and, as a result, economic growth. Further in this thesis, the following synonyms are also used in relation to school children: students, school students/ children, and pupils.

Researchers often look at factors that affect a school student's performance, it can be such factors as parents' education, peers' influence, etc., or even more specific factors such as: whether the child gets enough sleep at night, pre-school, or breakfast before school. (Okano *et al.* 2019; Dye *et al.* 2013; Eshetu 2014) However, one of the most important factors in students' achievements, when at school, is the parental involvement. Parents and the family as a whole have long been an economic category of interest to politicians. The best predictor of student success is how families encourage homeschooling and are involved in their children's education. When parents are involved in their children's school life, students receive the support at home and the knowledge they need to not only complete their assignments, but develop a lifelong love of learning.

Parental involvement, in economic terms, can be defined as a direct parental effort to improve the educational outcomes of their children. This definition clearly refers to the productive function of education and makes parental involvement one of its arguments. The COVID-19 pandemic has highlighted the importance of parenting support because parents have been forced to join the direct teaching and learning process. (Vegas, Winthrop 2020) Parents' ability to support homeschooling can have a critical impact on children's learning outcomes, especially during school closures. (Brossard *et al.* 2020)

Although precise data on the impact of school closings on future student development is not yet known, research by Eric Hanushek and Ludger Wessmann (2020) shows that students in grades 1-12 who have been affected by school closures can expect an estimated 3 percent drop in income over their lifetime. This situation could lead to a decrease in the annual gross domestic product (GDP) by an average of 1.5 percent until the end of the century. Given that these learning disruptions continue, these losses will grow proportionally. Therefore, it is necessary to understand how parental involvement in education can be connected with the academic success of a student, because thanks to this, even at such a time, it would be possible to maintain the level of education and academic success of students at the proper level.

The aim of this master's thesis is to determine and assess the effect of parental involvement in education on the academic performance of students. Previous studies have generally confirmed the relationship between parental involvement and student achievement, but there have been conflicting results. Thus, the author is interested in further researching the topic and contributing to the empirical literature on educational economics.

The following research questions are asked in the master's thesis:

- 1. What are the positive and negative aspects of parental involvement in student education?
- 2. Is parental involvement positively or negatively associated with student's outcomes?

The research methods used in this master's thesis are the following: the ordinary least squares (OLS) method, the two-stage least squares (2SLS or TSLS) also known as instrumental variables (IV) method, and the hierarchical cluster analysis (HCA). For the empirical analysis data from the OECD (Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development) Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA) 2018 survey was used complemented by some descriptive statistics.

Data processing and analysis were performed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS Statistics), for regression data analysis was used free software RStudio. Graphs and tables were created using Microsoft Excel, SPSS, and RStudio.

The master's thesis is divided into three main parts. The first part summarizes the theoretical literature, including the theoretical background of the problem, influencing factors, and a review of previous research. The second chapter describes the methodology and sampling adopted, the

dataset, the variables used, and the composition of the sample. The last chapter presents and analyses the results, which delves into the content of the results obtained and the rationale for the results along with the conclusions.

1. LITERATURE REVIEW

The section presents a literature review to summarize previous studies and give ground for this thesis according to its aims. It begins with a discussion of the importance of education in the economy and the need to maintain education at an appropriate level and examines the types of parental involvement, and the respective positive and negative aspects of parental involvement in school children's education.

1.1. Education and economic growth

Countries around the world are striving to improve education in order to enhance the skills and employability of young people and to reduce economic inequality. Studying over the past two decades why some countries have achieved economic success while others have not, provides a much clearer picture of the role of human capital in economic development. The impact of human capital on economic growth is best described in terms of the relationship between direct measures of cognitive ability and long-term economic development. (Ozturk 2001) Empirical evidence points to differences in cognitive abilities as the explanation for most differences in the rate of economic growth across OECD countries. The main growth characteristic indicates that higher cognitive skills pave the way for continued economic improvement, so that favourable education policies today will have a big impact on the future of the economy. The core assumption is that countries with higher human capital (as measured by intellectual capacity) innovate at a faster pace than countries with lower human capital, which means that countries with greater human capital would continue to experience higher productivity growth. (OECD 2010)

Investment in human capital is a central component of economic development policy in most countries (Jones 2016). Based on Becker's (1994) human capital theory, a high level of education is a major determinant of social mobility and a country's economic growth and development. In addition, school students are the main assets of schools and then universities. Students' achievements play an important role in producing the best quality graduates, who will become excellent leaders and the workforce for the country, thus responsible for the country's economic and social development. People with higher skills are more productive and better adapted to

technological changes in the economy. Thus, education plays a key role in countries' economic growth. In a linear model, secondary and tertiary education have a positive and significant relationship with economic growth. According to the results by Marquez-Ramos and Mourelle (2018), a 10% increase in secondary education leads to a 1.5 percent increase in economic growth.

In many countries, however, the response to the COVID-19 pandemic has jeopardized the longterm future of current students, and the damage done may affect the global economy in ways that will be felt well into the distant future. The authors of a recent study for several countries around the world found that school closures are likely to reduce global economic growth, equivalent to an annual rate of 0.8 percent. (Psacharopoulos *et al.* 2021) Another study by the same authors reports that school closures reduce students' future incomes, a loss equivalent to 15% of future GDP. (Psacharopoulos *et al.* 2020)

1.2. Definition of parental involvement and its importance

Where does human capital come from? What constitutes a successful investment in human capital on an individual or national level? It is the basis of a good society and economic success. To understand human capital, we must start with the family, because the family is the foundation of a good society and economic success. Families are the ones who take care of their children and try to promote their children's education and values with all the resources they have. Especially considering the current worldwide situation, the importance of parents in children's education has only increased. As school facilities have been and still are forced to close due to the spread of the virus, school activities have been replaced by online learning at home and teachers now share the burden of teaching with parents. Faced with this situation, parents need to be able to play the role of homeschooling their children.

Educational economists are primarily interested in the resources allocated to education and their outputs. Parental involvement, from an economist's perspective, can be defined as the direct effort of parents to improve their children's educational outcomes. This definition explicitly refers to the production function of education and makes parental involvement one of its arguments. (Avvisati *et al.* 2010) Much of the economics of education studies is based on a simple production model. Indicators such as school resources, teacher quality, and family characteristics are considered as input data, and student achievement is considered the result.

The education production function (EPF) in its most basic form is as follows (Bowles 1970):

$$Y_i = f(X_1, X_2, ..., X_n)$$
(1)

where

 Y_i – the output (i. e. student's grade)

 $X_1, X_2, ..., X_n$ – inputs (e.g. class size, parental involvement, spending, teacher ability, etc.)

Despite the abundance of input data to this production function of education, the author focuses on the indicator of parental involvement, since parents are one of the most influential factors in their children's lives. According to the results of a study conducted by Sapungan (2014), parental involvement can be defined as any interaction between a parent and a child or a school that contributes to the child's development. Parental involvement activities are also presented as existing on a continuum that extends from homework to school activities and finally to cooperation between home and school. At one end of the continuum are home activities such as reviewing report cards, ensuring school attendance, and monitoring homework. In the middle are traditional school activities such as attending parents' meetings and volunteering. On the other end are more collaborative activities at school, such as planning classroom activities with teachers and participating in policy development. (Reynolds, Shlafer 2009)

Thus, parental involvement is multi-dimensional and is made up of different types of behaviour, attitudes, and parental expectations. (Merin *et al.* 2016) Based on the different interpretations of this terminology, a general conclusion can be reached, that parental involvement or in other words parental participation refers to the parents' use of resources for the benefit of the child and the total number of activities in which parents can participate in order to contribute directly or indirectly to their children's education and development. (Zedan 2012; Bornstein 2002; McWayne *et al.* 2004) It follows that family involvement in the school child's education acts as a social lift. Parents have the ability to shape, support, and develop children to be active, interested, diligent, creative, and tolerant through their positive involvement in learning and educational activities.

Various studies have shown that the fastest way to improve a school student's performance is to increase the degree and quality of parental involvement. (Jaafarawi 2017) According to a metaanalysis of 66 studies of school students' achievements by Henderson (1987), when parents participated in their children's schooling, one or more of the following outcomes were considered: higher grades and better test results, better attendance and regular completion of homework, fewer students in special or remedial classes, higher graduation rates and more positive attitudes towards student behaviour in school.

Theoretical models link school students' performance and educational trajectories to the level of family resources (including cultural and social capital), to psychological factors (motivation, self-esteem) and educational opportunities (characteristics of schools, teachers and students themselves). The list of determinants is long. (Tovar-García 2012) Researchers consider family resources as the main explanatory variables. They include the different types of capital that parents invest in building their children's human capital. (Bourdieu 1984) In one of the previous studies, the authors noted that educational outcomes are strongly influenced by social capital, i.e. the network of social connections, especially the relationship between parents and children. (Coleman *et al.* 1966) It is important to understand that these approaches are complementary, not mutually exclusive.

1.3. Types of parental involvement

Joyce Epstein is a well-known sociologist who has devoted herself to researching parental involvement in students' academic performance. Epstein (1987) identified six subtypes of parental involvement, ranging from immediate or home influence to furthest or social influence. The first two categories include direct home influence. The first category 'at home' describes specific ways in which parents meet a child's basic needs (e.g. food, shelter and safety). The second category refers to specific activities that parents carry out to create a positive learning environment for the child at home. These include, for example, providing necessary learning materials, offering the child different activities (e.g. visiting a zoo, visiting a museum) where he/she can acquire new knowledge, and participating in these activities together with the child. The next two categories are those of school participation, which emphasise the interaction between family members and the school on issues concerning children. These include both dynamic communication with school staff and active participation in classroom and school activities. The last two categories belong to the most distant ones, i.e. participation in schools and communities. (Epstein et al. 2002) To summarise the above, these 6 types can be divided into two main types of parental involvement in their children's education: (1) parental involvement in school and (2) parental involvement in their children's learning activities at home (see Figure 1).



Figure 1. Types of parental involvement Source: (Smokoska 2020), compiled by the author

These two main types are discussed below under separate headings.

1.3.1. School-based involvement

Parental involvement in school represents one of the most visible forms of parental involvement, emphasising the importance of the link between family and school. School-level involvement looks at practices that require contact between the parent and the school such as school assemblies, talking to teachers, attending school events and volunteering at school. In other words, activities that involve parents in school life with their children. (Ibid.) Carpenter et al. (2016) found that school involvement can vary, with some parents volunteering, others involved in community work and others participating in extra-curricular activities. A study by Murray et al. (2014) showed that almost all parents indicated that participation in school was important and that parents should be involved. Parents emphasised the importance of volunteering (e.g. helping teachers in class and accompanying them on trips with the class) as well as attending class and school meetings. Parental involvement has a positive impact on school students' progress, as parents who attend parentteacher meetings and liaise with the school find it easier to keep track of their child's development and progress. Through participation in activities and constructive communication with the teacher, parents are informed of the teacher's expectations and parents can learn from the teacher how to support their child more at home and what methods to use to make learning more effective. (Dauber, Epstein 1989)

Various studies (Grolnick, Slowiaczek 1994; Jeynes 2014; Pomerantz *et al.* 2007) found a positive correlation between parental involvement in school and children's improved academic achievement, especially in the early years of school. Regular school attendance by parents demonstrates that school and home are interconnected and that school is an integral part of family life. (Sapungan, Sapungan 2014) Setting a positive example is also an important part of parental involvement, so it is the role and responsibility of parents to be model citizens and demonstrate the importance of education through their activities. (Carpenter *et al.* 2016)

1.3.2. Home-based involvement

Home-based involvement includes activities that take place outside the school, usually at the child's home. Parental home involvement can be divided into two forms: participation that is directly related to the child's academic life and participation in life in general. In-home involvement, it is important that the parent takes care of the child's basic needs and creates an ever-developing and positive learning environment for the child at home. (Sanders, Epstein 1998) It is the parent's responsibility to ensure that the child is fed, has a place to live and learn, that learning materials are always available and that the child is able to turn to the parent for help with learning. Non-academic parental involvement at home includes activities such as talking to children about their lives and the world around them, or participating in intellectual activities not directly related to schools, such as attending a play, concert, library or museum. (Pomerantz *et al.* 2007) Parental involvement at home also implies that parents create good patterns of social and educational values, for example through their own behaviour. (Desforges, Abouchaar 2003)

Home-based involvement can either be directly related to school work, such as help with homework or it can have a broader basis, such as guiding or supporting the child's academic choices, and discussing and advising the child on these issues. (Eccles, Harold 1993) Parental involvement in their child's education helps children grow up to be productive and responsible members of society. (Sapungan, Sapungan 2014) At the same time, it can be said that more is not always better and it applies to home participation, because a parent can support and guide their child, but they cannot make all decisions for the child, such as doing their homework (Pomerantz *et al.* 2007).

Pinantoan (2011) noted that the impact of parental involvement on a child's academic success should not be underestimated, as the support system a child receives from home is just as important

as their intellectual ability, work ethic and genetics, all of which work towards a goal. Moreover, children who are supported by both parents enjoy attending school much more and get very good grades compared to their peers whose parents are not involved at home and are unfamiliar with what goes on in school. (Desforges, Abouchaar 2003) It has also been found that parents who follow their child's schoolwork and activities consistently interact more closely with the teacher, thereby contributing to their child's further academic success. (Henderson, Berla 1994) The home learning plays an important role in understanding how children learn at school and in working with the school to help their children to achieve good learning outcomes and goals. (Bu-Hyun, Duk-Byeong 2014) In the case of home participation, parent-child interaction on school and academic topics are also important, and how often parents and children talk about school matters has a significant impact on a child's academic performance. (Jeynes 2005) Parents who are also involved in school involvement can use this knowledge to talk to their children about events they have experienced at school and to explore their child's plans for the future, as these conversations are also part of home involvement. (Carpenter et al. 2016) All this promotes communication between child and parent as well as child development and shows that school and home participation complement each other.

1.4. Effect of parental involvement on students' achievements

Depending on the type of parental involvement and behaviour, the effects of parental involvement can have quite contradictory results.

1.4.1. Positive impact

Educational researchers have long been interested in the positive impact of parental involvement on children's learning. (Epstein 1991; Fan, Chen 2001) The notion that parental involvement has a positive impact on student performance has led to a wealth of literature on the subject. (Hill, Tyson 2009; William 2003; Patall *et al.* 2008) The authors of a recent study used the multilevel structural equation modeling (MSEM) method to investigate the Programme for International Student Assessment (PISA) 2018 database and discovered a positive relation between parental involvement and student's success. (Çoban 2020) Sebastian *et al.* (2016) used the confirmatory factor analysis (CFA) method on the PISA 2012 dataset and came to a similar conclusion. Also Giannelli and Rapallini (2018) investigated parental attitudes toward mathematics and its impact on students' academic performance, concluding that children's math performance improves when parents believe mathematics is worthwhile to study because of its utility in the labor market. Policy-makers and researchers seem to agree that parental involvement is a critical component of children's academic success. (Graves, Wright 2011; Mattingly *et al.* 2002)

It is believed that parents who are actively involved in their children's education contribute to their children's social, emotional and academic growth, as parental engagement motivates children to learn. (Green *et al.* 2007) The level of involvement is crucial in exerting a strong influence on the school students' academic performances. The higher the level of parental engagement, the greater the impact on the child's academic achievement. The research by Lara and Saracostti (2019) includes three types of parental participation: high, medium and low. The results show higher achievement of school students whose parents have high and medium levels of involvement compared to children from families with low levels of involvement. A more recent study by Naite (2021) further supports this concept. The results show that students from actively involved parents have higher test scores in all subjects compared to children from uninvolved parents. Conversely, poorly engaged parents are able to suppress and destroy their children's motivation and abilities through neglect and indifference to their achievement. (Zedan 2012)

Looking at the effect of parental involvement from a different angle, results from a study of secondary school students in a public school show a strong negative correlation between parental involvement and absenteeism, and the study by García and Weiss (2018), in turn, has proved that when students are absent from classes, their academic performance declines. (Grepon, Cepada 2020) This can lead to student expulsion and according to Jason Schoeneberger (2012), students expulsion has long-term consequences on the economy, such as unemployment, low income and more frequent criminal activity. Consequently, it can be concluded that parental involvement encourages children to attend school regularly and increases student performance, which in the long-run has a positive effect on the economy.

1.4.2. Negative impact

Despite the widespread belief that parental involvement increases student achievement, some research contradicts the above, indicating that excessive parental engagement can have detrimental effects and have a negative impact on student success and achievement. (Desforges, Abouchaar 2003; Fan, Chen 2001) Some studies have shown that certain types of parental involvement are negatively related to achievement. Using the data of the 2012 PISA math survey and multilevel regression, Castro *et al.* (2015) found five primary factors that significantly affect student's

performance, including parental participation in the form of homework assistance, which had a negative impact on student's achievement. In addition, Fernandez-Crehuet and Perote (2016) came to a similar conclusion that parental involvement in homework is a good predictor of poor student's performance. This can be seen as further evidence that there is a "reactive" hypothesis that a student with academic or behavioral difficulties in school results in higher levels of parental involvement, although early research has shown that this hypothesis has little empirical support. (McNeal 2012)

Patall *et al.* (2008) found that when parents were directly involved in their children's education, it had a negative impact on their children's achievement. In previous work, Singh *et al.* (1995) investigated the effect of four components of parental involvement on the academic performance of eighth-graders, namely parental commitment to children's education, parent-child communication about the school, the structure at home and parental participation in school activities. They showed that parental involvement in school activities was not related to academic achievement, while home structure had a small negative relationship.

The way parents engage in their children's learning is associated with different effects on academic achievement. Communication style is positively related to academic performance, while control style is negatively correlated with academic performance. (Fernández-Alonso *et al.* 2017) Parents want the best for their children, and sometimes this can lead them to be too involved in different aspects of their child's life. One example of this in relation to academic achievement is support with homework. According to Shumow and Miller (2001), parental involvement in homework has a negative impact on student achievement in the form of lower test scores. Sometimes when parents try to help with homework, they are more of a hindrance to their child's learning than a help. (Patall *et al.* 2008)

Parents who regularly help their children with their homework contribute to a lower level of their autonomy, in turn, such school students have a lower level of academic performance because they do not take responsibility for their learning. This aspect is very important and has an effect in the long term because when school students take responsibility for their education, they lay the foundation to take responsibility for their actions in later life. (Fernández-Alonso *et al.* 2015)

In other words, school children who receive positive reinforcement from their parents are more likely to have higher academic achievement, while school students who have overly involved and

controlling parents are more likely to have lower academic performance. As parents increase control over their child's homework, the child's sense of self-efficacy decreases, leading to lower levels of functioning.

2. DATA AND METHODOLOGY

This chapter describes the database used, as well as the basics and content of the two-stage least squares (2SLS or TSLS) analysis methodology, also called the instrumental variables (IV) technique, and of the hierarchical cluster analysis (HCA) that is used to understand a more complete picture of the data. In addition, the indicators on which the estimates and conclusions are based are specified. Data processing and analysis were performed using the Statistical Package for the Social Sciences (SPSS Statistics), for regression data analysis was used free software RStudio. Graphs and tables were created using Microsoft Excel, SPSS and RStudio.

2.1. Data

In this thesis, the author uses data from the Programme for International Student Assessment, abbreviated as the PISA study. PISA assessments are conducted by the OECD every three years. The PISA survey assesses how well 15-year-olds who complete compulsory education possess the key knowledge and skills needed to fully participate in today's society. The study is conducted in relation to the three main areas of knowledge that are affected by the school curriculum: reading, mathematics and sciences. PISA measures the combined outcomes of education and learning at a stage when most children are still attending formal education (age 15). The 15-year-olds in the PISA sample also had to be enrolled in an educational institution in grade 7 and above. All such students were eligible to take the PISA assessment, regardless of the type of institution they were enrolled in and whether they were enrolled in full-time or part-time education. Detailed information on the sampling strategy can be found in the official report (OECD 2019a).

The original plan was to use the new PISA 2021 dataset for quantitative analysis, but due to the pandemic, the release was delayed until 2022, so it was decided to use the most recent study available, which is the PISA 2018. PISA collects data from both OECD and non-OECD countries and provides an opportunity to study patterns of parental involvement in many countries and economies. Based on the latest PISA 2018, nearly 600,000 15-year-old students from 79 countries and economies were tested. (OECD 2018a) Five additional questionnaires were offered as options

in PISA 2018: questionnaires on computer familiarity, well-being, educational careers, parents and teachers questionnaires. (OECD 2019b)

Given that the study requires the author to examine student and parent questionnaires, this study will only include those countries where PISA collected information on parent surveys in addition to student surveys. In 17 countries (9 of which were OECD countries and economies), questionnaires were distributed to parents to provide information about their home environment, their children's participation in school and their children's career aspirations. (OECD 2019c)

These 17 countries include:

- 9 OECD countries: Belgium (Flemish), Chile, Germany, Ireland, Italy, Korea, Luxembourg, Mexico, Portugal;
- 8 non-OECD countries: Brazil, Croatia, Dominican Republic, Georgia, Hong Kong (China), Macao (China), Malta, Panama.

Although Macao and Hong Kong are China, i.e. one country, they are considered in PISA as two different economies, since Hong Kong and Macau are special administrative regions of China, they have a high degree of autonomy compared to other regions of China, including their own economies, systems of government and education. Therefore, the author decided to follow PISA and also consider them separately from each other. Also, these 17 countries and economies can be divided according to the criterion of belonging to the European Union. Figure 2 provides this information.





Based on the data from Figure 2, it follows that the largest participation was taken by children with parents from Italy and the smallest from Malta. This graph also separates the countries according to their membership in the European Union. Accordingly, of the 17 countries and economies in which parent questionnaires were distributed, 8 are European Union members and 9 are non-EU members.

A limitation of this sample is that the parent survey was optional, and some parents did not participate in the PISA parent survey, so their blank questionnaire and thus their children's results would have to be excluded from the sample. There were also incorrect or missing values in the responses, so the author had to exclude these observations. After excluding missing values, the final sample of this study includes 14 countries and economies: Italy, Chile, Croatia, Portugal, Hong Kong (China), Georgia, Ireland, Dominican Republic, Panama, Belgium (Flemish), Macao (China), Malta, Luxembourg, Germany.

As only 14 countries and economies provided correct information on parental participation in the survey questions, the results of this working paper cannot be generalized to other countries or even to the countries and economies that were included in the survey sample, as the sample is not representative. Care should be taken when using the results for this limited set of countries and economies to make decisions about parent participation.

Further, the author will consider separately each of the variables used, their method of processing and provide descriptive statistics.

2.2. Methodology

Based on the previously studied literature, the main econometrical approach the author plans to use is the two-stage least squares model (2SLS or TSLS), also known as the instrumental variables (IV) method since from a methodological point of view, the study of the relationship between parental involvement and school performance of pupils may suffer from the problem of endogeneity. Moreover, also the ambiguity of whether parental involvement leads to improved academic performance, or whether poor academic performance causes parents to interact more actively with their child. Associated with endogeneity is the possibility of unexplained effects due to omitted variables (omitted variable bias). For this reason, the instrumental variable method should be used to study potential endogeneity. (Blank 2016)

The two-stage least squares (2SLS or TSLS) method was proposed by Heckman and it is a standard econometric approach used to solve the problem of data endogeneity, which can arise from missing explanatory variables in a regression, leading to correlations of the error term with the explanatory variables, thereby violating the basic assumption underlying conventional ordinary least squares (OLS) regression analysis. (Heckman 1979) When evaluating systems of simultaneous equations, the instruments are usually the exogenous variables of the system. The availability of information about such an instrumental variable allows to isolate the exogeneity of the model, and thus obtaining objective estimates. (Schlotter *et al.* 2011)

The instrumental variable is the third variable introduced into the regression analysis that correlates with the predictor variable but does not correlate with the response variable. By using

this variable, which helps to control for biases and measurement errors, it becomes possible to estimate the true causal effect that some predictor variable has on the response variable. In particular, the instrumental variable Z is an additional variable used to evaluate the effect of variable X on Y. According to the standard definition, a variable Z is instrumental (in relation to the pair (X, Y)) if it is independent of all variables (including errors) impacting Y that are not mediated by X, and it is also independent of X. (Pearl 2009) Therefore, the instrumental variable Z affects Y only through its influence on X and variable Z is not related to the outcome (Y). In this sense, the key issue in the implementation of the IV approach is the choice of an instrument that would meet certain conditions (Figure 3), which have been described in detail above. (Wooldridge 2000)



Figure 3. Instrumental variable (IV) assumptions Source: Compiled by the author

Summarizing the above, there are two main criteria for determining instrumental variable:

- 1. it must cause a variation in the treatment variable;
- 2. it has only an indirect effect on the outcome variable through the treatment variable.

These two conditions must be met for a reliable IV implementation, as well as a sufficient sample size to allow for a realistic evaluation of the treatment effect. If the first assumption is not met, meaning that the IV is linked to the result, the IV effect estimation may be biased. If the second

condition is not met, i.e., the IV has no effect on the treatment variable, the random error will have a similar effect on the treatment variable. (Lousdal 2018)

Taking into account all the above considerations, the model can be expressed as follows:

$$Y_i = \beta_0 + \beta_1 X_i + \beta_2 W_i + u_i \tag{2}$$

where

 Y_i – dependent variable (students' mean score) X_i – endogenous independent variable (parental involvement) W_i – exogenous variables (control variables) Z_i – instrumental variable u_i – error term

Since the method is called the two-stage least squares model, so this will involve running OLS twice. The first step is used to regress endogenous variable on all instruments and all exogenous variables:

$$\hat{X} = \hat{\pi}_0 + \hat{\pi}_1 Z_i + \hat{\pi}_2 W_i + \nu$$
(3)

The second stage is used to implement the model-estimated values from the first stage in place of actual values to compute an ordinary least squares model for the response of interest:

$$Y_i = \beta_0 + \beta_1 \widehat{X}_i + \beta_2 W_i + u_i \tag{4}$$

In the presented linear model (2), the dependent variable is defined as the students' average score in three subjects: mathematics, reading and science. The predictors are the following variables: parental involvement index calculated based on types of activities and control variables. Also, the model includes instrumental variable (IV) and error term. A description of the choice of instrumental variable and a more detailed characterization of each variable included in the model is presented in the following chapters. Also, the use of the 2SLS method has been slightly extended to use it in a non-linear form. (Essen 2015) To do this, the instrumentation was applied using *Z* and Z^2 , where *Z* is a valid instrument in form of parental expectations. (Wooldridge 2000) For a more in-depth descriptive analysis and a better understanding of the overall picture of the data, the author also used hierarchical cluster analysis (HCA). Hierarchical clustering (also called HCA) is a cluster analysis method that builds a hierarchy of clusters, it is designed to split the source data into combinable groups, so that elements are included in the group of the most "similar" and elements from different groups were maximally "different group" from each other. Typically, HCA results are presented as a dendrogram. The algorithm's dendrogram output can be used to understand the big picture as well as the groups in your data. (IBM 2021) Ward's method was chosen as the cluster agglomeration method, since it analyzes the dispersion of clusters, instead of direct distance measurement. The Ward's method is considered to be the most suitable method for quantitative variables. (Yuxuan Hu, Meng 2018)

Ward's method is aimed at minimizing the total intracluster variance. At each step, a pair of clusters merge with a minimum intercluster distance. In other words, it forms clusters in such a way as to minimize the loss associated with each cluster. At each step, we consider the union of each possible pair of clusters that give the smallest increase in the total sum of distances. (Murat 2020)

2.2.1. Choosing an instrumental variable (IV)

Parental involvement is related to characteristics of parenting background, in particular parental income and family structure. In terms of income, low-income parents have been found to be less likely to participate in their children's education. (Lanot, Chevalier 2002; Jenkins, Schluter 2002) This may be due to a lack of knowledge, motivation, longer working hours, transportation problems, some other difficulty or a combination of these. (Card 1999; West 2007) It is also possible that parents with lower incomes may also have lower parenting abilities. (Mayer 1997) This may explain why, when low income/educated people choose to participate, their participation benefits their child less than the corresponding participation contributions of parents with higher income/education. (Canova, Vaglio 2010; Maynard *et al.*1981)

In terms of family structure, there is evidence to suggest that single-parent households are a predictor of parental involvement, but single-parent families often have lower levels of participation, such as volunteering. (Cooper 2010; Jeynes 2005; Kalenkoski *et al.* 2006) The research by Magwa and Mugari (2017) also identified a number of factors associated with parental involvement, one of which is the socioeconomic status of the parents, which includes the level of education of the parents, employment status, and income. This study argues that due to low levels

of literacy, parents lack the knowledge and skills needed to help their children learn. It has been found that educated parents are more likely to be involved in their children's work than illiterate parents.

These results are consistent with the literature, which states that the level of education that parents have achieved determines whether parents will actively participate in their children's learning. (O'Donoghue 2014) Lee and Bowen (2006) found in their study that parents with higher education are more likely to attend meetings organized at school, and talk more about educational topics. Such parents are more involved in their children's work because they know the learning requirements and can place high expectations on their children. Shumow, Lyutykh and Schmidt (2011), as well as Glick and Hohmann-Marriott (2007) show, among others, that student achievement is related to parent participation, and parental education levels can influence parent participation.

Research on parenting has also shown that parental education is associated with a warm social climate in the home, which in turn affects children's success. Klebanov *et al.* (1994) found that both mothers' education and family income are important predictors of the physical environment and learning experience in the home. In the same way, Duncan and Brooks-Gunn (2000) found that the relationship between family income and parental education and children's academic performance was mediated by the home environment. The mediation effect was stronger for the mother's education than for family income. Thus, these authors argued that education may be associated with certain behaviors in the family. Corwyn and Bradley (2004) in their research concluded that, with some indirect effects through an intellectually stimulating home environment, the mother's education has the most consistent direct effect on children's behavioural and cognitive results.

Other authors (Lee, Bowen 2006) argued that parents with high socioeconomic status are more involved in their children's school work than parents with low socioeconomic status. The fact that parents' socioeconomic status affects parental involvement was also noted by Hornby (2011). Hornby argues that poor parents are less involved, less informed, and more likely to have problems with language, transportation, communication and childcare. The foregoing leads to the conclusion that probably parental education or income, and, accordingly, socioeconomic status, are not good enough instrumental variables, since they can directly correlate with the achievements of children, which does not satisfy the conditions of the instrumental variable.

Vincent and Neis (2011) come to the conclusion that the work schedules of parents in the modern world have changed, reaching a configuration in which both parents work full-time and even irregular working hours. In addition, they found that parents' work schedules can affect the emotional state of parents, influencing their relationships and interactions with their children, which ultimately indirectly affects student achievement.

The work by Cabus and Ariës (2016) explores the hypothesis that if family size increases, younger children receive less parental involvement than older children. The authors also face the challenges of endogeneity and reverse causation, to overcome this they use birth order as an instrument for parental involvement. The birth order is assigned randomly, and in addition, the child cannot influence his/her rank in the family. Birth order as such, is exogenous to the child. Damian and Roberts (2015) show that birth order is not an important determinant of personality and intelligence, and therefore this study supports the hypothesis that the main influence of birth order on student achievement is due to differences in parental participation. The authors of another study in the same area pointed out that although the family size and birth order are closely related to each other, they are still conceptually distinct. Family size is a constant for each child in a household and captures unobservable information at the household level. On the other hand, birth order is an individual (children's) level instrument that differs between siblings. Thus, the authors evaluate the impact of birth order on academic performance through its (negative) relationship with parental participation and as a function of family size. The authors confirmed that older children, on average, receive more parental involvement than the youngest family members. (Cabus, Ariës 2016)

Another variable that deserves attention is the academic expectations of parents, which are defined as the beliefs and requirements of parents regarding the future academic achievements of their children. A study by Davis-Kean (2005) found that children learn better and get higher grades whose parents are aware of their academic achievement compared to those whose parents show no interest in children's studies. Goldenberg *et al.* (2001) stated that high achievers were more likely to come from families with higher educational expectations. Such children are more successful in their studies because their parents cooperate with them in every possible way and control their activities through their involvement so that they can get more success. When parents think about the importance of education and expect high academic performance for their children, they become more occupied with activities and tasks related to learning. Consequently, parents help and support children, then tasks become easy and interesting for them, which leads to maximum achievements in educational activities. (Sy et al. 2007) In addition, parental involvement has been found to influence students' achievement-related beliefs, including their perceived competence and aspirations for academic achievement. (Grolnick, Slowiaczek 1994) Of particular relevance to this review are data showing that parents who value education more and have higher expectations for their child's educational achievement tend to be more involved in achievement-related activities, including reading to their children, sending them for extracurricular lessons and training, as well as monitoring their progress. (Halle et al. 1997) It is also worth noting that parents with high expectations for their children's educational success may invest not only time and effort, but also money. Some studies note that investment in children and their education is also part of parental involvement. In a meta-analysis, Stephen and Charol (1986) came to the conclusion that the costs directly related to education have the most positive impact on student achievement. For example, private tutoring or the purchase of a computer to help with studies can be seen as parental participation in education in the form of financial activity. Grolnick and Slowiaczek (1994) even describe parental involvement as the allocation of resources by the parent to the child, as well as LaRocque et al. (2011) explain parental involvement as the investment of parents or guardians in the education of their children.

In most of the studies examining the association of parental expectations with student achievement, researchers have tested and found strong and consistent evidence of a positive relationship between parental expectations and the achievement of European students. (Alexander *et al.* 1994; Neuenschwander *et al.* 2007; Phillipson, Phillipson 2007) None of the studies that have examined the relationship between parental expectations of families of European ancestry and children's achievement has failed to find an association.

The results, however, were not consistent for students of other races, such as Asian Americans or African Americans. (Okagaki, Frensch 1998; Sy *et al.* 2007) A study by Vartanian *et al.* (2007) with 9,494 participants showed that parental expectations were an important predictor of graduation for non-Asians, but not for Asian Americans. Davis-Kean (2005) studied children aged 8-12 and found similar patterns in African Americans: parental expectations had a direct significant impact on the academic performance of European Americans, but not African Americans. Similar to the results of studies of Hispanic students, none of the studies reviewed found a significant relationship between parental expectations and student achievement. An analysis (Goldenberg *et al.* 2001), conducted on a small sample of 57 people, found no significant

relationship between parental expectations and school performance (measured by teacher grades) or test scores in reading and math. Similar results were found in a large study of 1,050 Hispanic immigrant students and families, which found that parental expectations measured in 10th grade were not related to children's math achievement in 12th grade. (Dick 2008)

These conflicting results raise questions about the mechanisms by which parental expectations influence student learning outcomes. Probably, as the authors Yamamoto and Holloway (2010) of the article suggested, that parental expectations affect students' academic results not directly, but, for example, through the intensive and effective participation of parents.

Taking into account all of the above, the author comes to the conclusion that such variables as income, education, and hence the socio-economic status of the family can be correlated with the achievements of students, which makes it impossible to use these variables as instrumental variables for the model (Figure 4). Also, based on the previously studied literature, the author suggests that parental expectations are not directly related to the achievements of school children, but through parental behaviour and their involvement.



Figure 4. Conceptual model. Indirect and direct relations with students' achievements Source: (Davis-Kean 2005), compiled by the author

Summing up all of the above in this chapter, it can be concluded that probably suitable instrumental variables would be:

- birth order;
- family structure;

- parents' work schedule;
- parents' expectations.

In the next chapter, the author will explore the database for econometric analysis and match potential instrumental variables with the available data in the database.

2.2.2. Variables explanation and processing

• Dependent variable

In the two-stage least squares (2SLS) model chosen by the author, the dependent variable is the students' overall average grade in three subjects: mathematics, science and reading. For each scale and subscale, ten plausible values (PV) per student are included in the PISA international database, meaning each of these variables is measured by 10 plausible values that PISA uses to report student performance. The plausible values are a set of likely skills for the students who scored each score. Plausible values are generated by multiple imputations based on students' responses to a subset of test questions they were asked at random and their responses to the original questionnaires. (OECD 2014)

In some empirical research on plausible values, usually, two different ways of doing secondary analysis with econometric methods can be found. Firstly, analysts often choose to use only one of the five or ten plausible values. In this case, the standard errors of the statistics of interest are usually underestimated because the uncertainty associated with measuring skill distributions is ignored. However, PISA analysts pointed out that the use of one or five plausible values in a large sample does not really matter. (OECD 2009) In fact, during the data exploration phase, statistical analysis can be based on a single plausible value, although it is highly recommended to use all available values to improve the accuracy of estimates even for large samples.

The second method used is to calculate the average from the existing plausible values (five or ten) and use it as if it were the only available assessment of student achievement. (Reimer *et al.* 2018) The main problem with calculating this average as a performance measure is that standard errors are grossly underestimated (especially if only one plausible value is used), which can lead to misleading results. Therefore, the mean of the available plausible values should never be used in empirical analysis with econometric methods. (Davier *et al.* 2009)

Based on all of the above, it is not so easy to calculate the average, because according to the OECD guidelines for preparing PISA data for analysis, it also states that the plausible values should not be averaged at the student level, i.e. by calculating the average of five or ten likelihood values in the data set student-level values, and then computing the statistic using that average plausible value. (OECD 2022)

Secondary analysis should be performed independently of each of the available plausible values so that they can provide appropriate estimates of population statistics such as means and variances. (Goldstein 2004) In particular, the correct procedure for processing likely values can be divided into five steps based on the OECD guidelines for preparing PISA data (*Ibid*.):

- 1. calculate estimates for each plausible value (PV);
- 2. calculate the final estimate by averaging all the estimates obtained from the first step (1);
- 3. calculate the sample variance (an unbiased estimate is provided using only one PV);
- 4. calculate imputation variance (variance of measurement error estimated for each plausible variable (PV) and then averaged over a set of PVs);
- 5. calculate the final standard error by combining the third (3) and fourth (4) steps.

To make it easier to perform these actions, the "univar" macro was developed in the SPSS program to work with plausible values. (OECD 2009) Based on the previously mentioned PISA technical guidelines and using the "univar" SPSS macro, the author adapted it to the PISA 2018 database, because unlike earlier studies where 5 plausible values were used, PISA 2018 uses 10 plausible values.

In order to be able to compare the results obtained by the author and the official PISA reports, thus, to test the methodology, the author used the entire database without exceptions, then conducted an assessment and received the results (Figure 5). Thus, the author repeated the PISA methodology and received the results of average scores in mathematics, reading and science, which absolutely coincide with the official published results of the OECD PISA, which confirms the correctness of the methodology, which means it can be used for further estimated sampling of the author. (OECD 2019d) However, for further econometric analysis, the author intends to use the total average score for all three subjects as a dependent variable, which is calculated by the usual calculation of the average from the obtained values from the plausible variables, which is also displayed in Figure 5.



Figure 5. Mean test scores by country and subject based on plausible values (PV) Source: Author's calculations

The graph shows that China, in particular Macau, has the highest averages in math, reading, science, and therefore the highest overall average in all three subjects. The Dominican Republic has the lowest results. If focus only on the countries that are members of the European Union (EU), then of them the highest score in reading and the overall average score is in Ireland, which is also a member of the OECD countries, and the lowest in Malta, which is not a member of the OECD. Among the EU countries, in mathematics leads Belgium (OECD country) with 508.28, and Croatia occupies the last place in this ranking with 464.43 points (non-OECD). In the field of science, Germany is in the lead - 502.72 (OECD), and again, Malta lags behind the most - 456.78 (non-OECD). What is noteworthy, when studying the EU countries and their belonging to the OECD, it is noted that the countries that are members of the OECD have the highest scores, and the lowest scores that do not belong to the OECD. This is because the economic infrastructure of OECD countries is fundamentally more extensive than that of countries that do not participate directly in the OECD. (Campbell, Donev 2019)

As mentioned above, the author tried this technique with the full amount of data in order to be able to compare obtained results with the official PISA reports. Nevertheless, the technique has confirmed its correctness and for further analysis the author uses an estimated sample, which includes 60,147 observations (Table 1).

Country	Ν	Percent (%)	Mean	Minimum	Maximum
Macao	3,352	5.57	543.05	269.57	731.25
Hong Kong	4,660	7.75	538.67	253.91	749.13
Germany	2,191	3.64	533.79	252.47	773.06
Belgium	3,378	5.62	531.75	263.10	735.70
Ireland	4,472	7.44	510.94	244.24	709.52
Luxembourg	2,207	3.67	500.60	227.06	740.90
Portugal	4,759	7.91	498.62	197.11	735.85
Italy	8,771	14.58	494.02	236.06	721.37
Malta	2,351	3.91	476.71	186.41	753.12
Croatia	5,222	8.68	476.51	199.60	698.29
Chile	5,937	9.87	460.02	185.98	698.85
Georgia	4,562	7.58	392.36	182.45	656.73
Panama	3,883	5.62	371.40	163.36	627.01
Dominican Republic	4,402	7.32	340.99	187.18	606.66
Total	60,147	100.00	473.26	163.36	773.06

Table 1. Sample statistic

Source: Author's calculations

• Endogenous variable

As an endogenous variable, the author uses the value of parental involvement. As discussed in the qualitative part of the paper, there are many definitions of parental involvement in the literature, but in order to make parental involvement measurable for quantitative research, a clear and unambiguous definition of what constitutes parental involvement is needed. For econometric analysis, three different types of parental involvement are identified, namely: involvement at the household level, involvement at the school level and educational spending. The wide variety of data on parental participation presented in PISA 2018 makes it possible to consider these forms of participation and motivational support. After examining the questions from the parent questionnaire, the author identified three questions that reflect these three types of participation (OECD 2018b):

1. The home-based parental involvement: "How often do you or someone else in your home do the following things with your child?".

This question lists 7 activities of a parent with a child and each of them is rated on a five-point scale, in which "1" is never or almost never and "5" is every day or almost every day.



Figure 6. The home-based activities Source: Author's calculations

The Figure 6 above shows that the largest number of responding parents every day or almost every day spend time talking with their children, eating together at the dinner table and discussing how their child is doing at school. Of all the types of activities listed in this question, these three are the most basic, that is, they create a trusting relationship between children and their parents and create

emotional support. Based on the same results of Figure 6, the least number of parents go to the library or the bookstore with their children.

2. The school-based parental involvement: "During <the last academic year>, have you participated in any of the following school-related activities?".

This question includes 10 activities that are scored as "yes", "no" and "not supported by the school". Scoring is done as follows: for each positive statement is set "1", for negative statements, scoring is done in the reverse order, i.e. "-1", and if this type of activity is not supported by the school then it is "0".





The results in Figure 7 show activities related to the parental school-based involvement. The largest number of parents participate in scheduled meetings or conferences and the least number of parents participate in the local school government.

3. The educational spending: "In the last twelve months, about how much would you have paid to educational providers for services?".

This determination includes any tuition fees the parent pays to the child's school or tutors, but does not include costs for items such as sports equipment, school uniforms, computers, or textbooks, unless they are included in the total fee. In this question, it is assumed that under the notation of the intervals, for different countries and economies are indicated specific values, depending on the level of economy and the possible cost of services. To analyze these answers, the author uses a rank scale from "0" to "5", that is, if the parent has not spent anything over the past 12 months, then this is "0", and if he spent \$Z or more, then this is "5", respectively. This way author could order the cost from smallest to largest, where the average is 3"- "\$X or more but less than \$Y".





The pie chart shows that a fairly large number of parents did not pay anything to representatives of education over the past 12 months - 22%, 21% and 26% paid less than the average, 13% of parents invested the average amount in education and 18% paid above average (6% and 12%).

The involvement of parents is assessed according to the scales proposed by (Hoover-Dempsey, Sandler 2005). Thus, the score obtained on the items related to each component gives a measure of the component of parental involvement.

• Instrumental variable

Further, approaching the choice of an instrumental variable and the method of its measurement, it is worth listing the previously indicated options based on the previous chapter, which discussed the choice of instrumental variables:

- 1. birth order;
- 2. family structure;
- 3. parents' schedule;
- 4. parents' expectations.

Given the availability of data in the sample, it is not possible to consider the variables of birth order, family structure, and parental work schedules. Thus, the last but not least variable remains parental expectations. Parental expectations are mental states that cannot directly affect student achievement.

Eccles' expectancy-value model suggests a cascade process: parental beliefs and values trigger parental behaviour and interactions with the child aimed at encouraging children, which ultimately influence the child's behaviour and achievements (Simpkins*et al.* 2012). Therefore, this variable "parents' expectations of children's success" is likely to be highly correlated with how strongly parents are involved in the child's learning and development, because the more parents believe in their child and his success, the more resources they invest, including time, effort and money to promote the development of the child. However, the variable "parents' expectations of children's success" is not expected to have any correlation with student grades (Figure 9).



Figure 9. Variables relations Source: Compiled by the author

Although there are different approaches to how researchers measure parental expectations, there is evidence that parental expectations are usually analyzed by assessing ability expectations, short-term expectations for grades, and long-term expectations for educational attainment. (Sukhdeep, Reynolds 1999) As an option to measure it, the parent questionnaire contains the following question: "Which of the following do you expect your child to complete?". (OECD 2018b)

The options for answering this question contain various levels of the International Standard Classification of Education (ISCED). (UNESCO 2011) The measurements ranged from "1"-"ISCED level 2" to " 6"-"ISCED level 5A or 6", meaning from lower secondary education to bachelor or equivalent level. When reviewing the overall statistics of answers to this question, the author noticed that many respondents chose several answers, although it is assumed what the highest degree of education a parent or guardian expects from a child. Therefore, to obtain a correct sample, the author took into account only one marked option, that is, the highest level of education expected by the parent. General statistics are shown on the Figure 10.



Figure 10. Parental expectations Source: Author's calculations

This graph clearly shows that more than half of the parents have the highest level of expectation provided in this questionnaire, which corresponds to a bachelor's degree.

• Control variables

The theoretical analysis shows that many factors contribute to the academic performance of students. Econometric analysis uses control variables to explore the relationship between parental

involvement and student academic achievement. The control variables are: student's age (*AGE*), educational resources at home (*HEDRES*), such as a desk, computer, study room, textbooks or educational software, socioeconomic and family cultural status (*ESCS*), variable which describes how much effort student put into that test (*EFFORT1*) and variable which describes how much effort student would have invested (*EFFORT2*), also father's and mother's education by ISCED scale (*FISCED*) and (*MISCED*), index of immigration status (*IMMIG*) and household income (INCOME). Thus, all variables included in the model were identified, prepared, evaluated and ready for empirical analysis. The author reports descriptive statistics of variables in Table 2.

Variable	Ν	Mean	Median	Min.	Max.	Std.Dev.
Dependent variable:						
MeanScore	60,147	473.26	479.57	163.36	773.06	100.15
Independent variable	es:					
Involvement	60,147	25.28	25.00	-3.00	50.00	7.54
AGE	60,147	15.78	15.75	15.25	16.33	0.29
HEDRES	58,443	-0.12	-0.14	-4.53	1.21	1.05
ESCS	58,875	-0.28	-0.27	-7.01	4.21	1.06
EFFORT1	52,407	7.84	8.00	1.00	10.00	1.78
EFFORT2	51,976	9.14	10.00	1.00	10.00	1.48
MISCED	58,183	4.15	4.00	0.00	6.00	1.67
FISCED	57,166	4.03	4.00	0.00	6.00	1.72
IMMIG	57,798	1.20	1.00	1.00	3.00	0.53
INCOME	41,412	3.47	3.00	1.00	6.00	1.89
Instrumental variable:						
Expectations	60,147	5.23	6.00	1.00	6.00	1.29

Table 2. Variables descriptive statistic

Source: Author's calculations

Descriptive statistics for variables include a number of observations, mean, median, standard deviation, minimum and maximum values. There are 60,147 observations in the prepared dataset, but there are missing observations for some control variables that will be excluded during the analysis itself, so the final sample for model estimation is smaller.

In the next chapter, the author estimates the model and describes the results.

3. EMPIRICAL ANALYSIS AND RESULTS

3.1. Descriptive statistics

Hierarchical cluster analysis (HCA) was used to identify country groups based on three previously studied types of parental involvement (home-based, school-based and educational spending) and average students' scores, using the Ward's method. (Yuxuan Hu, Meng 2018) The results of the hierarchical cluster analysis show that the optimal solution was to group the countries into three groups (Figure 11).



Figure 11. Hierarchical cluster analysis dendrogram Source: Author's calculations

Countries form three large clusters. The first includes the Dominican Republic, Panama and Georgia. The second cluster is formed by such countries as: China (Hong Kong and Macao), Belgium and Germany. The third cluster, the largest, contains such countries as Italy, Luxembourg, Ireland, Croatia, Chile, Malta and Portugal. This distribution can partly be explained by the geographic location, since, for example, in European countries, parental involvement and students'

success may have similar dynamics due to similar cultural values, educational levels and parenting methods.

Looking at the clusters in Figure 11 in order from left to right, the first cluster has the highest index of parental involvement and the lowest students' scores. The second cluster consists of countries that, relative to other clusters, have a low level of parental involvement, but the highest scores among students. The third cluster includes those countries that have average involvement and average results.

For a more visual demonstration of the results, the author has compiled a graph that shows the ratio of the level of parental involvement and the overall results of students by country (Figure 12).



Figure 12. The ratio of two variables by countries Source: Author's calculations

The graph shows the previously described results of the HCA, where the countries were divided into 3 groups. Visually, these three clusters of countries are almost also clearly visible, of which

some have a high index of involvement from parents, but low results of students, others seem to practically find an equilibrium between these two indicators, and the third ones, relative to the previous two clusters, have a low indicator of parental involvement, but the highest scores of students.

Based on these findings, it can be assumed that parental involvement and students' scores have a non-linear relationship, an assumption indirectly discussed in the theoretical part of the thesis. That is, too high a level of parental involvement that develops into parental overinvolvement does not guarantee good students' scores, but rather predicts poor students' grades, while relatively low involvement guarantees better scores. This is due to the same factor mentioned earlier: overinvolvement can lead to parents intervening too often in solving problems that the child must cope with, this can interfere with the development of the child's sense of autonomy.

The author also compiled another graph to visualize the relationship between parental involvement and the students' average scores (Figure 13).



Figure 13. Parental involvement and students' mean scores relation Source: Author's calculations

The result obtained is quite interesting because the relationship between parental involvement and students' academic success in form of average scores in three subjects is non-linear, as the author assumed earlier. As the parental involvement in the child's learning increases, so does the child's average score but, at some point, if the parental involvement in the child's learning exceeds a certain threshold, it negatively affects the child's academic success. This result supports the notion of parental overinvolvement, which the discussion mentioned in section 1.4.2. on involvement negative aspects, which may cause students' underachievement, as students whose parents are overly involved and controlling are more likely to underperform. As parents increase control over the child, the child's sense of independence decreases, and the child ceases to feel his own responsibility for learning and relies on parents for everything and waits for their approval, which leads to lower results.

There is another assumption of this type of results, and it lies in the fact that may be in the countries where noticed high parental involvement and low score results of children, it is not parental involvement that has such an effect, but the initially low scores of children provoked parents to become more involved in their children's education, and therefore at the time of data collection it was not possible to track what further effect this increased involvement would have on students' success.

3.2. Model estimation

The main goal of this master's thesis is to determine the relationship between students' achievements and parental involvement in their education. The positive structural relationship between students' academic performance and parental involvement has been confirmed by a number of early studies, which are described in the theoretical part of the thesis. Taking into account these theoretical and experimental data, the author hypothesized that there will be a positive relationship between parental involvement and students' academic success. As the main econometrics approach, the author chose the 2SLS method, also known as the IV method.

This section presents estimates of the effect of parental involvement using the ordinary least squares (OLS) method (Table 3). Later in this section, the author will compare these results with the results obtained when evaluating the instrumental variable IV (2SLS) model (Table 4). In the selected model, the dependent variable was defined as the average score calculated based on the plausible values methodology in three subjects: mathematics, reading and science. The predictors

are the following variables: parental involvement index (*Involvement*) calculated based on three types of activities (home involvement, school involvement and educational spending), age of student (*AGE*), educational resources at home (*HEDRES*), the index of the economic, social and cultural status of the family (*ESCS*), a variable that describes how much effort student put into that test (*EFFORT1*) and variable that describes how much effort student would have invested (*EFFORT2*), also father's and mother's education by ISCED scale (*FISCED*) and (*MISCED*), index of immigration status (*IMMIG*) and household income (INCOME). As instrumental variable, parental expectations regarding the success of children in the form of the expected level of education (*Expectations*) was chosen. Since in the previous chapter, using the hierarchical clustering method, three groups of countries were identified, the author was interested in compiling different models also for these three clusters separately. Thus, these results are also provided for both the OLS and 2SLS models.

Variable	Overall dataset Coefficient	First cluster Coefficient	Second cluster Coefficient	Third cluster Coefficient
Intercept	332.98 ***	76.34 *	222.59 ***	342.21 ***
Involvement	-2.35 ***	-0.82 ***	-1.04 ***	-1.60 ***
AGE	9.75 ***	17.31 ***	14.73 ***	7.74 ***
HEDRES	8.46 ***	2.98 ***	3.47 ***	-1.25 *
ESCS	41.87 ***	18.27 ***	21.13 ***	40.15 ***
EFFORT1	-0.15	-3.37 ***	5.87 ***	2.68 ***
EFFORT2	6.74 ***	7.32 ***	6.05 ***	7.18 ***
MISCED	-10.06 ***	-2.40 ***	-3.44 ***	-3.55 ***
FISCED	-7.82 ***	-0.95 *	-1.72 ***	-5.29 ***
IMMIG	25.39 ***	6.20 **	5.61 ***	1.03
INCOME	13.08 ***	13.56 ***	6.63 ***	4.65 ***
<i>p</i> -value	< 2.2e-16	< 2.2e-16	< 2.2e-16	< 2.2e-16
R-squared (adj.)	0.34	0.31	0.13	0.23
Ν	32,518	7,318	10,109	15,091

Table 3. The results of the ordinary least squares (OLS) models.

Source: Author's calculations

Note: Significance level values *, **, *** indicate significance at 10%, 5% and 1% level

The ordinary least squares (OLS) model reports that parental involvement and students' outcomes have a negative relationship, that is, as the involvement increases, then students' grade decreases. Also, a mother's and father's education have a negative impact on children's success. The following variables consistently have a positive relationship with student achievement: age, socioeconomic status, effort that the student could make, immigration status, and household income. The effect of the remaining variables varies for these four models.

However, the author cannot rely on the ordinary least squares (OLS) estimates. First, a child's poor academic performance may encourage a parent to become more involved in education to help the child succeed in school. Second, a high level of parental involvement can motivate a child to learn better. That is, just as parental involvement can influence a child's success, so a child's success can influence parental involvement.

Therefore, the OLS model is not able to assess the structural relationship between the variables under consideration. This is mainly due to the fact that standard linear regression models assume that errors in the dependent variable are not correlated with the independent variables, which allows the parameter coefficient to be represented as a function of the correlation coefficients between the variables. Because of this, the OLS method is asymptotically biased in terms of structural parameter estimation, which leads to inconclusive empirical results.

Instead, the author investigates the structural equation in (2), directly estimating the structural parameter using the so-called two-stage least squares (2SLS or TSLS) or instrumental variables (IV) method. This method is a two-stage evaluation that uses an instrumental variable that is correlated with the cause variable but not correlated with the error term. To assess the chosen model, the author uses one instrumental variable: parental expectations regarding the success of children in the form of the expected level of education (*Expectations*). This variable is expected to be associated with a predictor because the more parents expect their child to be academically successful, the more likely they are to be involved in their child's development and education, and as a result, the child's performance will be higher. Also in this study, the author suggests that there is no direct relationship between parental expectations and student's success in this analysis.

To begin with, the two-stage least squares (2SLS or TSLS) or instrumental variables (IV) regress the cause variable on the selected instrumental variable and non-cause explanatory variables to obtain a fit cause variable, and then regresses the dependent variable on the fitted cause variable and the other explanatory variables in models by evaluating an unknown parameter in a structural model. Since the calculated values are based on variables that do not correlate with errors, the results of the model are optimal. Table 4 presents the results of the two-stage least squares (2SLS or TSLS) or instrumental variables (IV) model, instrument: parental expectations (*Expectations*).

Variable	Overall dataset Coefficient	First cluster Coefficient	Second cluster Coefficient	Third cluster Coefficient
Intercept	-672.83 ***	-580.77 ***	-4941.67	49448.44
Involvement	24.75 ***	13.26 ***	167.23 *	-1157.15
AGE	33.98 ***	33.50 ***	139.39 *	-1169.26
HEDRES	6.63 ***	-3.07	-84.63	243.76
ESCS	38.29 ***	13.65 ***	-99.58	1205.45
EFFORT1	-8.21 ***	-6.22 ***	-13.97	214.24
EFFORT2	7.09 ***	7.72 ***	1.82	-50.94
MISCED	-24.36 ***	-5.64 ***	-64.48 *	78.35
FISCED	-11.52 ***	0.76	-14.03	-157.70
IMMIG	48.58 ***	15.02 **	-139.94	-978.65
INCOME	22.99 ***	17.53 ***	-7.68	-152.58
<i>p</i> -value	< 2.2e-16	< 2.2e-16	0.64	1.00
R-squared (adj.)	-9.56	-1.96	-253.41	-9284
Ν	32,518	7,318	10,109	15,091
Diagnostic tests:				
Weak instruments	111.52 ***	25.59 ***	3.03 *	0.09
Wu-Hausman	793.81 ***	127.56 ***	838.75 ***	1399.17 ***
Sargan	NA	NA	NA	NA

Table 4. 2SLS (TSLS, IV) models estimation and testing

Source: Author's calculations

Note: Significance level values *, **, *** indicate significance at 10%, 5% and 1% level

The results of the 2SLS estimate change the sign of the effect, which, in turn, changes the interpretation of the results. Based on the assessments of the main model, an increase in the index of parental involvement 1 unit leads to an increase in the student's academic results by 24.75 points. Also, the success of school children is positively affected by age, which is logical, since the older the student, the more knowledge she/he has and the greater her/his mental abilities. With an increase in the indicator of home educational resources by 1 unit, the total average score in three subjects of the student increases by 6.63, which is also consistent with the literature. The social and cultural status index is significant and has a large positive impact on academic performance, meaning that by increasing it by 1 unit, the results increase by 38.29 points. The efforts that the student has invested in passing the test have a negative impact on academic performance, probably the students have not used their full potential by taking this testing lightly, however, the effort that the student could invest in passing have a positive effect on the overall grade in three subjects.

The education estimates of mother and father are statistically significant, but the mother's education has a larger negative impact on student's scores, than the father's education. This result

conflicts with the theory that the higher the education of the parent, the better the success of the student. It can be assumed, however, that usually mothers are more involved in the education of children, therefore the effect is greater than the father, and it is negative since the more the higher the education of the parent, the more she/he strains the child to achieve the same success or even more, thereby interfering excessively in the child's studies or even exerting excessive pressure, causing the child to reject studying, thus, the child has lower results. With an increase in the index of immigration status by 1 unit, the total score in three subjects increases by 48.58 points, that is, immigrants receive higher scores than non-immigrants. This result may be due to the fact that being not in their country of birth, these people are likely to have more motivation to achieve success. Last but not least, the income variable shows a positive relationship with students' grades.

As for the remaining three models divided by clusters, which were identified as a result of applying the hierarchical clustering method, the models for the second and third clusters are not statistically significant, and the statistically significant indicators of the first cluster model are more or less consistent with the results of the main model. If compare the estimates of the first and second clusters and observe the dynamics, can be seen that the description of the clusters from the previous chapter is consistent with the empirical results. Thus, starting from the index of parental involvement equal to 29 or more, the straight line of the second cluster is almost vertical, which means that with the slightest change in the index of parental involvement, the success of the child increases with great dynamics, while for the second cluster its growth is smoother and the index of parental involvement should be significantly higher than for the first cluster in order to obtain the same level of average student's score.

Additionally, the author carried out testing and diagnostics with a special function, the results of which are displayed in the same table 4 in the "Diagnostic test" section. Weak instruments: this is an F-test for instruments in the first stage. If the endogenous regressor is weakly related to instrumental variables, then its coefficient will be estimated inaccurately. The null hypothesis, in fact, is that there is a weak instrument. In the main model, the test statistic is 111.5 and the p-value is smaller than 1 percent, and this means that the selected instrument is not weak, which is good.

The Wu-Hausman test is a test for endogeneity. If all regressors are exogenous, then the OLS and 2SLS estimates are consistent and the OLS estimate is more efficient, but if one or more regressors are endogenous, then the OLS estimate is inconsistent. In this case, the test statistic is large (793.8)

and the p-value is less than 1 percent, hence the null hypothesis is rejected and this means that the OLS estimate is inconsistent and therefore the 2SLS estimation is preferable.

Sargan: this is a test of the exogeneity of an instrument using over-identifying constraints called J-statistics. In the above results, the test statistic of the Sargan test is "NA". This is to be expected because the author uses one instrument for one endogenous regressor, and the mathematical properties of the test require that there be at least one more instrument than the endogenous regressor.

Also in the previous chapter, it was suggested that the relationship between parent involvement and student achievement is non-linear, so as an experiment, the author was interested in using a nonlinear two-stage least-squares model to determine such a relationship. (Essen 2015) To do this, the instrumentation was applied using Z and Z^2 , where Z is a valid instrument in form of parental expectations. (Wooldridge 2000) The following result was obtained:

Variable	Coefficient	
Intercept	-5213.07 ***	
Involvement	462.78 ***	
Involvement ²	-8.64 ***	
<i>p</i> -value	1.02e-12	
R-squared (adj.)	-47.44	
Ν	60,144	
Diagnostic tests:		
Weak instruments (Involvement)	230.02 ***	
Weak instruments (Involvement ²)	230.51 ***	
Wu-Hausman	2123.83 ***	
Sargan	NA	

Table 5. Non-linear 2SLS model estimation and testing

Source: Author's calculations

Note: Significance level values *, **, *** indicate significance at 10%, 5% and 1% level

The obtained coefficients of the 2SLS quadratic equation are as follows:

 $Y = -8.64 Involvement^2 + 426.78 Involvement - 5213.07$

(5)

Based on the result obtained, it can be said that the negative quadratic coefficient makes the ends of the parabola look down, respectively, the curve is concave down. The roots of this equation are 16.11 and 37.46, therefore, if the index of parental involvement is too low (less than 16.11), then this negatively affects the grade of the student, as well as too high an index of parental involvement (above 37.46). At the top of the parabola is the index of parental involvement of 26.8, and after that, with an increase in this index, the average score of the student begins to decrease. Nevertheless, the index of parental involvement in the limits of these two indicators in one way or another has a positive impact on the students' mean score, since parents take part, but do not overinvolved and do not exert excessive pressure, thus this is a positive parental involvement.

3.3. Results

A discussion of the results is presented in the following section. Before this, it is necessary to give some comments on a number of exceptions and consequences. Since only 14 countries and economies provided correct information on parental participation in the survey questions, the results of this master's thesis cannot be generalized to other countries or even to countries and economies that participated in the parent survey, as the sample is not representative of except for missing or incorrect data. Care should be taken when using the results for this limited set of countries and economies to make decisions about parent involvement.

Furthermore, prevailing discourses regarding the learning and achievements of children in different countries do not always take into account the unique political and social contexts in which schools, teachers and parents operate. In a culturally diverse world, the validity of data on parental involvement and the form in which it occurs can be compromised by data on cross-cultural comparability. What parental support for learning entails, and how it manifests itself, likely differs across cultures. In addition, there is a possibility of inconsistency between parents' self-reports and their actual behaviour, and therefore care must be taken when interpreting results regarding parents' subjective views on supporting learning at home and school.

The study conducted by the author confirmed the existence of a relationship between the two indicators studied: the level of parental involvement and the average score of students in three subjects. Although econometric analysis using the 2SLS method confirmed a positive relationship between parental involvement and students' academic performance, however, with a more detailed analysis of the data using hierarchical clustering analysis, descriptive statistics and non-linear

2SLS method, it was possible to establish that the relationship between parental involvement and students' results is still not so unambiguous, that is, they can have both positive and negative relationship, which is in line with the literature. There is a certain threshold beyond which too much participation of parents in the education of children begins to have a negative impact on the academic success of the latter. Also, in turn, it is observed that relatively low involvement corresponds to the success of children, presumably because children feel more independent and responsible for their learning and are able to cope with it on their own. However, it cannot be argued that this conclusion is always valid - the lower the involvement, the better the academic performance, since based on the data used in the study, it is impossible to determine the threshold when low involvement would cause low results for children, since, relative to the available results, low involvement, in fact, is not low, but only within the framework of this study.

Another possibility for these types of results is that in countries where high parental involvement and low child score results have been observed, it is not parental involvement that has such an effect, but rather the initially low child score results that prompted parents to become more involved in their children's education, and thus it was not possible to track what further effect this increased involvement would have on student success in the future. Therefore, another limitation is the type of data: cross-sectional studies cannot provide definitive information about causal relationships due to the causality dilemma (i.e., they do not clearly identify the temporal relationship between putative exposures and outcomes). This is because such studies offer a snapshot of a single point in time, they do not take into account what happens before or after the snapshot is taken. Through such a study, it is possible to test the relationship of parental involvement with student academic performance, but it is not possible to know whether the effect preceded the effect. Although cross-sectional studies cannot be used to determine causation, it helps generate causal hypotheses and can be a useful springboard for further research.

CONCLUSION

The aim of this master's thesis was to determine and assess the impact of parental involvement in a child's education on the academic performance of students.

The following research questions are asked in the master's thesis:

- 1. What are the positive and negative aspects of parental involvement in student education?
- 2. Is parental involvement positively or negatively associated with student's outcomes?

Taking into account the cross nature of the data and the possibility of the problem of endogeneity, therefore, as a method of econometric analysis, the author chose the two-stage least squares (2SLS or TSLS) model, also known as the instrumental variables (IV) method, using an instrumental variable in the form of parental expectations. For a more detailed study of the data, descriptive statistics and hierarchical clustering were also carried out. The data used is from the 2018 Program for International Student Assessment (PISA), which measures the cognitive skills of 15-year-olds.

The study is divided into three main parts. The first part deals with the theoretical side of the topic, including the theoretical background of the problem, influencing factors and a review of previous research. The second part of the master's thesis includes a description of the methodology and data. The third section contains empirical analysis such as model estimation, results and conclusions.

The first question of this master's thesis received an answer in the theoretical part of the study, where both positive and negative aspects of parental involvement in children's education were described in detail. Based on this, involvement can be divided into two types - positive parental involvement and overinvolvement, which implies a negative effect on students' success. Positive involvement is believed to reduce school absenteeism as well as promote children's social, emotional and academic growth, as parental involvement motivates children to learn, which has a positive impact on the economy in the long run. Parents who are too involved in school and other aspects of their child's life contribute to a lower level of independence in their children, in turn,

such students have a lower level of academic achievement because they do not take responsibility for their learning. This aspect is very important and has an impact in the long term, because when students take responsibility for their education, they lay the foundation for taking responsibility for their actions later in life.

In the third part of this research, the answer was also received to the second question of the master's thesis, thus the relationship between parental involvement in learning and the academic success of students was determined and evaluated. Econometric analysis using the 2SLS method confirmed a positive relationship between parental involvement and students' academic performance, an increase in the index of parental involvement by 1 unit leads to an increase in the student's academic results by 24.75 points. Also, the success of school children is positively affected by their age, home educational resources, social and cultural status, immigration status index and household income. The efforts that the student has invested in passing the test have a negative impact on academic performance, however, the efforts that the student could invest in passing that test have a positive effect on the overall grade in three subjects. The education estimates of mother and father are statistically significant, but both have a negative impact on student's scores. However, with a more detailed analysis of the data using hierarchical clustering, descriptive statistics and non-linear 2SLS, it was possible to establish that the relationship between the involvement of parents and the success of students is still not so unambiguous, that is, they can have both a positive and a negative relationship, which motivates the further and in-depth study of this topic.

The first assumption underlying the ambiguity of the relationship between parental involvement and student success is that there is a point beyond which too much parental involvement in their children's education begins to have a negative impact on their success, and that relatively low involvement corresponds to good child success, presumably because children feel more independent and responsible for their learning and are better able to cope with it on their own. However, in the context of this study, it cannot be argued that this conclusion is always true, that the lower the involvement – the better the academic performance, because it is impossible to determine the threshold when low involvement causes low results for children, because based on the data used in the study, low engagement is not actually low, but only within the scope of this study.

The second presumption is that it may be that in countries where high involvement and poor performance of children is observed, it is not involvement at all that has such an impact, but the initially low success of children provoked parents to become more involved in children's education and therefore at the time of data collection, and also taking into account type of data, it was not possible to track what effect this increased involvement would have on student success in the future.

Despite a number of limitations mentioned in the last chapter, the results of the study indicate several directions for future research on this topic. First, in order to better understand how these relationships exist, further research is needed on the relationship between parent involvement and students' achievements, using different methods and studying each type of interaction specifically. Second, longitudinal studies are needed to understand how these variables interact over time and to explore the possibility of bidirectional relationships between variables, in other words, to be able to analyze the dynamics of indicators over time and identify causal relationships. In addition, better results with the use of other instrumental variables or additional research methods are not excluded.

KOKKUVÕTE

VANEMATE OSALUS JA KOOLIÕPILASTE TULEMUSED

Jekaterina Maslennikova

Investeerimine inimkapitali on enamikus riikides majandusarengu poliitika keskne komponent. (Jones 2016) Kõrgemate oskustega inimesed on produktiivsemad ja kohanevad paremini majanduse tehnoloogiliste muutustega. Seetõttu on haridusel riikide majanduskasvus võtmeroll. COVID-19 pandeemia tõttu olid aga koolid ajutiselt suletud ning Eric Hanushek ja Ludger Wessmann (2020) uuring näitab, et koolide sulgemisest mõjutatud 1.–12. klasside õpilased võivad oodata oma elu jooksul hinnanguliselt 3 protsenti sissetulekute langust. Selline olukord võib kaasa tuua aastase sisemajanduse koguprodukti (SKP) vähenemise kuni sajandi lõpuni keskmiselt 1.5 protsenti. Seetõttu on COVID-19 pandeemia rõhutanud vanemate toetuse ja osaluse tähtsust, kuna vanemad on olnud sunnitud osalema otseses õpetamise ja õppimise protsessis. (Vegas, Winthrop 2020) Vanemate võime toetada koduõpet võib kriitiliselt mõjutada laste õpitulemusi, eriti koolide sulgemise ajal. (Brossard et al. 2020)

Vanemad ja perekond tervikuna on pikka aega olnud poliitikute jaoks huvipakkuv majanduslik teema. Vanemate kaasamist võib majanduse mõistes määratleda kui vanemate otsest pingutust oma laste haridustulemuste parandamiseks. Kui vanemad on kaasatud oma laste kooliellu, saavad õpilased kodust tuge ja teadmisi, mida nad vajavad mitte ainult ülesannete täitmiseks, vaid ka elukestva õppimise armastuse arendamiseks. Seetõttu on vaja mõista, kuidas saab vanemate kaasamist haridusse seostada õpilase õppeedukusega, sest tänu sellele oleks ka sellisel ajal võimalik säilitada õpilaste haridustaset ja õppeedukust õigel tasemel.

Käesoleva magistritöö eesmärk oli välja selgitada ja hinnata vanemate kaasamise mõju õpilaste õppeedukusele. Selle eesmärgi saavutamiseks analüüsitakse varasemaid teoreetilisi ja empiirilisi uuringuid. Lisaks tehakse RStudio tarkvaraprogrammis ökonomeetriline analüüs. Empiirilise analüüsi jaoks kasutati 2018. aasta rahvusvahelise 15-aastaste õpilaste hindamise programmi (PISA) andmeid. Käesolevas magistritöös kasutatud uurimismeetodid on järgmised: tavaline vähimruutude meetod, kaheastmeline vähimruutude meetod, tuntud ka kui instrumentaalsete muutujate meetod ja hierarhiline klasteranalüüs. Andmetöötlus ja analüüs viidi läbi sotsiaalteaduste statistilise paketi (SPSS Statistics) abil, regressiooniandmete analüüsiks kasutati tasuta tarkvara RStudio. Graafikud ja tabelid loodi Microsoft Exceli, SPSS-i ja RStudio abil.

Magistritöös esitatakse järgmised uurimisküsimused:

- 1. Millised on vanemate kaasamise positiivsed ja negatiivsed küljed?
- 2. Kas vanemate kaasamine on õpilase tulemustega positiivselt või negatiivselt seotud?

Selle magistritöö esimene küsimus sai vastuse töö teoreetilises osas, kus kirjeldati üksikasjalikult nii positiivseid kui ka negatiivseid aspekte vanemate kaasamisel laste haridusse. Sellest lähtuvalt võib kaasamise jagada kahte tüüpi - vanemate positiivne kaasamine ja hüperosalus, mis tähendab negatiivset mõju õpilaste edukusele. Arvatakse, et positiivne kaasamine vähendab koolist puudumist ning soodustab laste sotsiaalset, emotsionaalset ja akadeemilist kasvu, kuna vanemate kaasamine motiveerib lapsi õppima, millel on pikas perspektiivis positiivne mõju majandusele. Vanemad, kes on liiga kaasatud oma lapse haridusse ja muudesse eluvaldkondadesse, aitavad kaasa oma laste iseseisvuse vähenemisele, nendel õpilastel on omakorda madalam õppeedukus, kuna nad ei võta vastutust oma õppimise ja otsuste eest. See aspekt on väga oluline ja sellel on pikaajaline mõju, sest kui õpilased võtavad oma õppimise eest vastutuse, loovad nad aluse oma tegude eest vastutuse võtmiseks täiskasvanueas.

Käesoleva töö kolmandas osas saadi vastus ka magistritöö teisele küsimusele, seega selgitati välja ja hinnati seost vanemate õppimisse kaasatuse ja üliõpilaste õppeedukuse vahel. Ökonomeetriline analüüs 2SLS-meetodi abil kinnitas positiivset seost vanemate kaasatuse ja õpilaste õppeedukuse vahel, vanemate osaluse indeksi suurenemine 1 ühiku võrra toob kaasa õpilase õppetulemuste tõusu 24,75 punkti võrra. Samuti mõjutavad kooliõpilaste edu positiivselt nende vanus, kodused haridusressursid, sotsiaalne ja kultuuriline staatus, immigratsioonistaatuse indeks ning leibkonna sissetulek. Jõupingutused, mida õpilane on testi sooritamiseks panustanud, mõjutab hindeid negatiivselt, kuid pingutus, mida õpilane saab selle testi sooritamiseks teha, mõjutab positiivselt kolme aine üldhinnet. Ema ja isa hariduse hinnangud on statistiliselt olulised, kuid mõlemal on negatiivne mõju õpilaste tulemustele. Andmete detailsem analüüs hierarhilise klasterdamise, kirjeldava statistika ja mittelineaarse 2SLS-meetodi abil aitas tuvastada, et seos vanemate

kaasamise ja õpilaste edukuse vahel ei ole siiski nii üheselt mõistetav, neil võib olla nii positiivne kui negatiivne suhe, ning need uuringu tulemused näitavad mitmeid suundi selle teema edasiseks uurimiseks.

Esiteks, selleks, et paremini mõista, kuidas need suhted eksisteerivad, on vaja täiendavaid uuringuid vanemate kaasamise ja õpilaste saavutuste vahelise seose kohta, kasutades erinevaid meetodeid ja uurides iga interaktsiooni tüüpi konkreetselt. Teiseks on vaja pikisuunalisi uuringuid, et mõista, kuidas need muutujad aja jooksul interakteeruvad, ja uurida muutujatevahelise kahesuunalise seose võimalust, teisisõnu, et oleks võimalik analüüsida indikaatorite dünaamikat ajas ja tuvastada põhjuslikke seoseid. Lisaks pole välistatud paremad tulemused teiste instrumentaalmuutujate või täiendavate uurimismeetodite kasutamisel.

LIST OF REFERENCES

- Alexander, K., Entwisle, D., Bedinger, S. (1994). When Expectations Work: Race and Socioeconomic Differences in School Performance. Social Psychology Quarterly, 57 (4), 283-299. Retrieved from: https://www.jstor.org/stable/2787156?seq=1#metadata_info_tab_contents, 7 February, 2022.
- Avvisati, F., Besbas, B., Guyon, N. (2010). Parental Involvement in School : A Literature Review. *Revue d'économie politique, Dalloz,* 120 (5), 759-778. Retrieved from: https://www.cairn.info/revue-d-economie-politique-2010-5-page-759.htm , 23 December 2021.
- Becker, G. (1994). *A* Theoretical and Empirical Analysis with Special Reference to Education Third Edition. Retrieved from: https://www.academia.edu/35396287/HUMAN_CAPITAL_A_Theoretical_and_Empiric al_Analysis_with_Special_Reference_to_Education_THIRD_EDITION, 20 December 2021.
- Blank, M. (2016). The Impact Of Parental Involvement On Academic Achievement In Children.ThesesandDissertations.Retrievedfrom:https://commons.und.edu/theses/1877/?utm_source=commons.und.edu%2Ftheses%2F1877&utm_medium=PDF&utm_campaign=PDFCoverPages , 11 January 2022.
- Bornstein, M. (2002). Handbook of Parenting: Practical Issues in Parenting. *Psychology Press*, 5 (2). Retrieved from: https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.457.3309&rep=rep1&type=p df , 27 December 2021.
- Bourdieu, P. (1984). Distinction: A Social Critique of the Judgement of Taste. Retrieved from: https://www.mit.edu/~allanmc/bourdieu1.pdf, 5 January 2022.
- Bowles, S. (1970). Towards an Educational Production Function. National Bureau of Economic
Research, Inc, 11-70. Retrieved from:
https://www.nber.org/system/files/chapters/c3276/c3276.pdf , 3 January 2022.
- Bradley, R., Corwyn, R. (2004). "Family Process" Investments That Matter for Child Well-Being. In A. Kalil & T. DeLeire (Eds.), Family investments in children's potential: Resources and parenting behaviors that promote success, 1- 32. Retrieved from: https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2004-16218-001, 11 January 2022.
- Bu-Hyun , N., Duk-Byeong , P. (2014). Parent involvement: perceptions of recent immigrant parents in a suburban school district, Minnesota. *Educational Studies*, 40 (3), 310-329.

Retrieved from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/03055698.2014.898576, 19 December 2021.

- Cabus, S., Ariës, R. (2016). What do parents teach their children? The effects of parental involvement on student performance in Dutch compulsory education. *Educational Review*, 69 (3), 285-302. Retrieved from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.1080/00131911.2016.1208148 , 23 January 2022.
- Campbell, A., Donev, J. (2019). *OECD*. Retrieved from: https://energyeducation.ca/encyclopedia/OECD, 2 March 2022.
- Canova, L., Vaglio, A. (2010). Why Do Educated Mothers Matter? A Model of Parental Help. *Economics Discussion Paper*, 2010 (29). Retrieved from: http://www.economics-ejournal.org/economics/discussionpapers/2010-29/, 13 January 2022.
- Card, D. (1999). The Causal Effect of Education on Earnings. *Handbook of Labor Economics*, 3 (A), 1801-1863. Retrieved from: https://davidcard.berkeley.edu/papers/causal_educ_earnings.pdf , 13 January 2022.
- Carpenter, B., Young, M., Bowers, A., Sanders, K. (2016). Family Involvement at the Secondary Level: Learning From Texas Borderland Schools. *NASSP Bulletin*, 100 (1), 47-70. Retrieved from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/0192636516648208, 7 January 2022.
- Castro, M., Expósito-Casas, E., López-Martín, E., Lizasoain, L., Navarro-Asencio, E., Gavi, J. (2015) Parental involvement on student academic achievement: A meta-analysis. *Educational Research Review, vol. 14, pp. 33-46.* Retrieved from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S1747938X15000032, 3 March 2022.
- Childs, S., Shakeshaft, C. (1986). A Meta-Analysis of Research on the Relationship Between Educational Expenditures and Student Achievement. *Journal of Education Finance*, 12 (2), 249-263. Retrieved from: https://www.jstor.org/stable/40703543?seq=1#metadata_info_tab_contents, 17 February 2022.
- Çoban, Ö. (2020). Relationships between Students' Socioeconomic Status, Parental Support, Students' Hindering, Teachers' Hindering and Students' Literacy Scores: PISA 2018.
 World Journal of Education, vol. 10, no. 4. Retrieved from: https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ1265420.pdf, 17 March 2022.
- Coleman, J., Campbell, E., Hobson, C., McPartland, J., Mood, A., Weinfeld, F., York, R. (1966). *Equality of edeucational opportunity.* Retrieved from: https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED012275.pdf , 5 January 2022.
- Cooper, C. (2010). Family poverty, school-based parental involvement, and policy-focused protective factors in kindergarten. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 25(4), 480–492. Retrieved from: https://psycnet.apa.org/record/2010-08758-001, 14 January 2022.

- Damian, R., Roberts, B. (2015). The Associations of Birth Order with Personality and Intelligence in a Representative Sample of U.S. High School Students. *Journal of Research in Personality*, 58. Retrieved from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/279460901_The_Associations_of_Birth_Order _with_Personality_and_Intelligence_in_a_Representative_Sample_of_US_High_School _Students, 28 January 2022.
- Dauber, S., Epstein, J. (1989). Parent Atitudes and Practices of Parent Involvement in Iner-City Elementary and Middle Schools. *Report* no. 3. Retrieved from: https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED314152.pdf, 7 January 2022.
- Davier, M., Gonzalez, E., Mislevy, R. (2009). What are plausible values and why are they useful? *IERI Monograph Series: Issues and Methodologies in Large-Scale Assessments*, 2, 9-36. Retrieved from: https://www.ierinstitute.org/fileadmin/Documents/IERI_Monograph/IERI_Monograph_ Volume_02_Chapter_01.pdf, 1 March 2022.
- Davis-Kean, P. (2005). The Influence of Parent Education and Family Income on Child Achievement: The Indirect Role of Parental Expectations and the Home Environment. *Journal of Family Psychology*, 19 (2), 294-304. Retrieved from: http://www.mikemcmahon.info/ParentEducationIncome.pdf, 2 February 2022.
- Desforges, C., Abouchaar, A. (2003). The Impact of Parental Involvement, Parental Support and Family Education on Pupil Achievements and Adjustment: A Literature Review. *Research Report* no. 433. Retrieved from: https://www.nationalnumeracy.org.uk/sites/default/files/documents/impact_of_parental_i nvolvement/the_impact_of_parental_involvement.pdf, 3 January 2022.
- Dick, C. (2008). Expectations, Aspirations, and Achievement Among Latino Students of Immigrant Families. *Marriage and Family Review*, 43 (1,2), 164-185. Retrieved from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/01494920802013078, 18 February 2022.
- Duncan, G., Brooks-Gunn, J. (2000). Family Poverty, Welfare Reform, and Child Development. *Child Development*, 71 (1), 188-196. Retrieved from: https://www.jstor.org/stable/1132232?seq=1#metadata_info_tab_contents , 17 January 2022.
- Eccles, J., Harold, R. (1993). Parent-school involvement during the early adolescent years. *Teachers College Record*, 94 (3),568–587. Retrieved from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/233896430_Parent-School_Involvement_during_the_Early_Adolescent_Years, 8 January 2022.
- Epstein, J. (1987). Parent Involvement: What Research Says to Administrators. *Research Article*, 19 (2), 119-136. Retrieved from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/0013124587019002002, 9 January 2022.
- Epstein, J. (1991). Paths to Partnership: What We Can Learn from Federal, State, District, and School Initiatives. *Phi Delta Kappan*, 72 (5), 344-49.

- Epstein, J., Mavis, S., Beth, S., Salinas, K., Jansorn, N., Van Voorhis, F. (2002). School, Family, and Community Partnerships: Your Handbook for Action. Second Edition. Retrieved from: https://www.govinfo.gov/content/pkg/ERIC-ED467082/pdf/ERIC-ED467082.pdf , 6 January 2022.
- Essen, J. (2015). Using nonlinear IV estimators. Retrieved from: https://feb.studenttheses.ub.rug.nl/15205/1/Thesis.pdf, 27 April 2022.
- Fan, X., Chen, M. (2001). Parental Involvement and Students' Academic Achievement: A Meta-Analysis. *Educational Psychology Review*, 13 (1). Retrieved from: https://link.springer.com/content/pdf/10.1023/A:1009048817385.pdf, 11 January 2022.
- Fernández-Alonso, R., Álvarez-Díaz, M., Woitschach, P., Suárez-Álvarez, J., Cuesta, M. (2017). Parental involvement and academic performance: Less control and more communication. *Psicothema*, 29, 453-461. Retrieved from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/320475251_Parental_involvement_and_acade mic_performance_Less_control_and_more_communication, 12 January 2022.
- Fernández-Alonso, R., Suárez-Álvarez, J., Muñiz, J. (2015). Adolescents' Homework Performance in Mathematics and Science: Personal Factors and Teaching Practices. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 107 (4), 1075–1085. Retrieved from: https://www.apa.org/pubs/journals/releases/edu-0000032.pdf, 1 January 2022.
- Fernandez-Crehuet, M., Perote, J. (2016). Parent Participation and Academic Performance: Pisa Cross-National Perspective (Reading and Mathematics). *European Journal of Social Sciences, vol. 53,* no. 2, pp. 228-240. Retrieved from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/310497658_Parent_Participation_and_Academi c_Performance_Pisa_Cross-National_Perspective_Reading_and_Mathematics, 3 Marchh 2022.
- García, E., Weiss, E. (2018). Student absenteeism. Who misses school and how missing school matters for performance. Retrieved from: https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED593361.pdf, 14 January 2022.
- Giannelli, G., Rapallini, C. (2018). Parental Occupation and Children's School Outcomes in Math. Discussion Paper Series, IZA DP no. 11395. Retrieved from: https://ftp.iza.org/dp11395.pdf, 17 April 2022.
- Goldenberg, C., Gallimore, R., Reese, L., Garnier, H. (2001). Cause or Effect? A Longitudinal Study of Immigrant Latino Parents' Aspirations and Expectations, and Their Children's School Performance. *American Educational Research Journal*, 3, 547-582. Retrieved from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/pdf/10.3102/00028312038003547, 3 February 2022.
- Goldstein, H. (2004). International comparisons of student attainment: some issues arising from the PISA study. Assessment in Education: Principles, Policy and Practice, 11 (3), 319-330. Retrieved from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/0969594042000304618, 1 March 2022.

- Graves, S., Wright, L. (2011). Parent involvement at school entry: A national examination of group differences and achievement. *School Psychology International*, 32 (1), 35-48. Retrieved from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/0143034310396611, 3 January 2022.
- Green, C., Walker, J., Hoover-Dempsey, K., Howard, S. (2007). Parents' motivations for involvement in children's education: An empirical test of a theoretical model of parental involvement. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 99 (3). Retrieved from: https://booksc.eu/book/18562801/b2385b, 19 December 2021.
- Grepon, B., Cepada, C. (2020). Absenteeism and Parental Involvement in Home and School among Middle School Students of Public School in Northern Mindanao, Philippines: Basis for Intervention. Asian Journal of Educational Research, 8 (2). Retrieved from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/349915844_Absenteeism_and_Parental_Involv ement_in_Home_and_School_among_Middle_School_Students_of_Public_School_in_N orthern_Mindanao_Philippines_Basis_for_Intervention, 15 January 2022.
- Grolnick, W., Slowiaczek, M. (1994). Parents' Involvement in Children's Schooling: A Multidimensional Conceptualization and Motivational Model. *Child Development*, 65 (1), 237-252 . Retrieved from: https://www.jstor.org/stable/1131378?seq=1#metadata_info_tab_contents , 5 January 2022.
- Halle, T., Kurtz-Costes, B., Mahoney, J. (1997). Family Influences on School Achievement in Low-Income, African American Children. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 89(3), 527-537. Retrieved from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/232426657_Family_Influences_on_School_Ac hievement_in_Low-Income_African_American_Children , 11 February 2022.
- Heckman, J. (1979). Sample Selection Bias as a Specification Error. *Econometrica*, 47 (1), 153-161. Retrieved from: https://www.jstor.org/stable/1912352?seq=1#metadata_info_tab_contents , 11 January 2022.
- Henderson, A. (1987). The Evidence Continues to Grow: Parent Involvement Improves Student Achievement. An Annotated Bibliography. *National Committee for Citizens in Education Special Report*. Retrieved from: https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED315199, 2 January 2022.
- Henderson, A., Berla, N. (1994). A New Generation of Evidence: The Family Is Critical to Student Achievement. Retrieved from: https://eric.ed.gov/?id=ED375968, 7 January 2022.
- Hill, N., Tyson, D. (2009). Parental involvement in middle school: A meta-analytic assessment of the strategies that promote achievement. *Developmental Psychology*, 45 (3), 740–763. Retrieved from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC2782391/pdf/nihms-151389.pdf, 9 January 2022.
- Hohmann-Marriott, B., Glick, J. (2007). Academic Performance of Young Children in Immigrant Families: The Significance of Race, Ethnicity, and National Origins. *The International Migration Review*, 41 (2), 371-402. Retrieved from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1111/j.1747-7379.2007.00072.x , 15 January 2022.

- Hoover-Dempsey, K., Sandler, H. (2005). The Social Context of Parental Involvement: A Path to Enhanced Achievement. Retrieved from: https://ir.vanderbilt.edu/bitstream/handle/1803/7595/OERIIESfinalreport032205.pdf?seq uence=1&isAllowed=y, 2 March 2022.
- Hornby, G. (2011). Parental Involvement in Childhood Education: Building Effective School-Family Partnerships. Retrieved from: http://digilib.stiem.ac.id:8080/xmlui/bitstream/handle/123456789/377/Keterlibatan%20or ang%20tua%20dalam%20Pendidikan%20Anak%20Usia%20Membangun%20Kemitraan %20Efektif%20Sekolah-Keluarga.pdf?sequence=1&isAllowed=y, 23 January 2022.
- IBM. (2021). Hierarchical cluster analysis. Retrieved from: https://www.ibm.com/docs/en/spss-statistics/beta?topic=features-hierarchical-cluster-analysis, 3 March 2022.
- Jaafarawi, N. (2017). The Importance of Parent's Intervention in Early Years. Journal of Literature and Art Studies, 7 (12), 1673-1680. Retrieved from: http://www.davidpublisher.com/Public/uploads/Contribute/59f00c41a0204.pdf , 29 December 2021.
- Jenkins, S., Schluter, C. (2002). The Effect of Family Income During Childhood on Later-Life Attainment: Evidence from Germany. *IZA Discussion Paper No. 604*. Retrieved from: https://docs.iza.org/dp604.pdf, 12 January 2022.
- Jeynes, W. (2005). A Meta-Analysis of the Relation of Parental Involvement to Urban Elementary School Student Academic Achievement. Urban Education, 40 (3), 237-269. Retrieved from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/abs/10.1177/0042085905274540?journalCode=uexa, 30 December 2021.
- Jeynes, W. (2005). Effects of Parental Involvement and Family Structure on the Academic Achievement of Adolescents. *Marriage & Family Review*, 37(3), 99-116. Retrieved from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.1300/J002v37n03_06?needAccess=true , 15 January 2022.
- Jeynes, W. (2014). Parental Involvement That Works ... Because It's Age-Appropriate. *Kappa Delta Pi Record*, 50 (2), 85-88. Retrieved from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/00228958.2014.900852?scroll=top&need Access=true, 6 January 2022.
- Jones, C. (2016). Chapter 1 The Facts of Economic Growth. *Handbook of Macroeconomics*, (2), 3-69. Retrieved from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S1574004816000033?via%3Dihub , 8 January 2022.
- Kalenkoski, C., Ribar, D., Stratton, L. (2006). The Effect of Family Structure on Parents' Child Care Time in the United States and the United Kingdom. *Discussion Paper No. 2441*. Retrieved from: https://docs.iza.org/dp2441.pdf , 12 January 2022.
- Klebanov, P., Brooks-Gunn , J., Duncan, G. (1994). Does Neighborhood and Family Poverty Affect Mothers' Parenting, Mental Health, and Social Support? *Journal of Marriage and*

Family, 56 (2), 441. Retrieved from: https://www.jstor.org/stable/pdf/353111.pdf, 15 January 2022.

- Lanot, G., Chevalier, A. (2002). The Relative Effect of Family Characteristics and Financial Situation on Educational Achievement. *Education Economics*, 10 (2). Retrieved from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/24079126_The_Relative_Effect_of_Family_Ch aracteristics_and_Financial_Situation_on_Educational_Achievement, 12 January 2022.
- Lara, L., Saracostti, M. (2019). Effect of Parental Involvement on Children's Academic Achievement in Chile. *Frontiers in Psychology*, (10). Retrieved from: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyg.2019.01464/full, 23 December 23 2021.
- LaRocque, M., Kleiman, I., Darling, S. (2011). Parental Involvement: The Missing Link in School Achievement. *Preventing School Failure*, 55(3), 115–122. Retrieved from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/10459880903472876, 7 February 2022.
- Lee, S., Bowen, N. (2006). Parent Involvement, Cultural Capital, and the Achievement Gap Among Elementary School Children. *American Educational Research Journal*, 43(2). Retrieved from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/238095012_Parent_Involvement_Cultural_Cap ital_and_the_Achievement_Gap_Among_Elementary_School_Children , 16 January 2022.
- Lousdal, M. (2018). An introduction to instrumental variable assumptions, validation and estimation. Retrieved from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC5776781/, 11 January 2022.
- Magwa, S., Mugari, S. (2017). Factors affecting parental involvement in the schooling of children. International Journal of Academic Research and Reflection, 5 (1). Retrieved from: https://www.idpublications.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/12/Full-Paper-FACTORS-AFFECTING-PARENTAL-INVOLVEMENT-IN-THE-SCHOOLING-OF-CHILDREN.pdf, 15 January 2022.
- Marquez-Ramos, L., Mourelle, E. (2018). Education and economic growth: an empirical analysis of nonlinearities. *Applied Economic Analysis*, 27 (79), 21-45. Retrieved from: https://www.emerald.com/insight/content/doi/10.1108/AEA-06-2019-0005/full/pdf?title=education-and-economic-growth-an-empirical-analysis-ofnonlinearities, 21 December 2021.
- Mattingly, D., Prislin, R., McKenzie, T., Rodriguez, J., Kayzar, B. (2002). Evaluating Evaluations: The Case of Parent Involvement Programs. *Review of Educational Research*, 72 (4), 549-576. Retrieved from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.3102/00346543072004549, 7 January 2022.
- Mayer, S. (1997). What Money Can't Buy. Family Income and Children's Life Chances. Retrieved from: https://www.gwern.net/docs/sociology/1997-mayer-whatmoneycantbuy.pdf , 14 January 2022.

- Maynard, R., Murnane, R., Ohls, J. (1981). Home Resources and Children's Achievement. *Review* of Economics and Statistics, 63 (3), 369-77. Retrieved from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/24093946_Home_Resources_and_Children%2 7s_Achievement, 14 January 2022.
- McNeal, R. (2012). Checking In or Checking Out? Investigating the Parent Involvement Reactive Hypothesis. *The Journal of Educational Research, vol. 105, no. 2, pp. 78-89.* Retrieved from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/00220671.2010.519410, 3 March 2022.
- McWayne, C., Hampton, V., Fantuzzo, J., Cohen, H., Sekino, Y. (2004). A multivariate examination of parent involvement and the social and academic competencies of urban kindergarten children. *Psychology in the Schools*, 41(3), 363–377. Retrieved from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/epdf/10.1002/pits.10163, 30 December 2021.
- Merin, J., Quinio, C., Pitogo, G., Miot, C., Cardosa, J., Cape, M., Caño, K. (2016). Parental Involvement On Pupils' Performance: Epstein's Framework. *The Online Journal of New Horizons in Education*, 6 (4). Retrieved from: https://www.tojned.net/journals/tojned/articles/v06i04/v06i04-16.pdf , 27 December 2021.
- Murat, M. (2020). Hierarchical clustering. Retrieved from: https://mmuratarat.github.io/2020-05-23/hierarchical_clustering , 3 March 2022.
- Murray, K., Finigan-Carr, N., Jones, V., Copeland-Linder, N., Haynie, D., Cheng, T. (2014).
 Barriers and Facilitators to School-Based Parent Involvement for Parents of Urban Public
 Middle School Students. SAGE Open. Retrieved from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/2158244014558030, 7 January 2022.
- Naite, I. (2021). Impact of Parental Involvement on Children's Academic Performance at CrescentInternational School, Bangkok, Thailand. IOP Conference Series: Earth andEnvironmentalScience,690.Retrievedhttps://iopscience.iop.org/article/10.1088/1755-1315/690/1/012064, 28 December 2021.
- Neuenschwander, M., Vida, M., Garrett, J., Eccles, J. (2007). Parents' expectations and students' achievement in two Western nations. *International Journal of Behavioral Development*, 31(6), 594-602. Retrieved from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/247779744_Parents%27_expectations_and_stu dents%27_achievement_in_two_Western_nations, 8 February 2022.
- O'Donoghue, K. (2014). Barriers to Parental Involvement in Schools: Developing Diverse Programs to Include Unique Demographics. *Education and Human Development Master's Theses*, (434). Retrieved from: https://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.679.7330&rep=rep1&type=p df, 14 January 2022.
- OECD. (2009). PISA Data Analysis Manual: SPSS, Second Edition. Retrieved from: https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/education/pisa-data-analysis-manual-spss-secondedition_9789264056275-en, 28 February 2022.

- OECD. (2010). The High Cost of Low Educational Performance. Retrieved from: https://www.oecd.org/pisa/44417824.pdf, 19 December 2021.
- OECD. (2014). Scaling PISA Cognitive Data. Retrieved from: https://www.oecd.org/pisa/pisaproducts/PISA%202012%20Technical%20Report_Chapte r%209.pdf , 17 February 2022.
- OECD. (2018a). *PISA* 2018 Database. Retrieved from: https://www.oecd.org/pisa/data/2018database/, 28 February 2022.
- OECD. (2018b). OECD Programme for International Student Assessment 2018, parent questionnaire. Retrieved from: https://www.oecd.org/pisa/data/2018database/CY7_201710_QST_MS_PAQ_NoNotes_fi nal.pdf, 18 February 2022.
- OECD. (2019a). PISA 2018 Assessment and Analytical Framework. Retrieved from: https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/education/pisa-2018-assessment-and-analyticalframework_b25efab8-en, 27 February 2022.
- OECD. (2019b). PISA 2018 Results (Volume I): What Students Know and Can Do. Retrieved from: https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/sites/609870a0-en/index.html?itemId=/content/component/609870a0-en, 28 February 2022.
- OECD. (2019c). PISA 2018 Results, where all students can succeed, (2). Retrieved from: https://abdigm.meb.gov.tr/meb_iys_dosyalar/2019_12/05140148_OECD_PISA_2018_Ra poru_V2.pdf, 28 February 2022.
- OECD. (2019d). PISA 2018 results: combined executive summaries; volume I, II & III. Retrieved from: https://www.oecd.org/pisa/Combined_Executive_Summaries_PISA_2018.pdf , 2 March 2022.
- OECD. (2022). How to prepare and analyse the PISA database. Retrieved from: https://www.oecd.org/pisa/data/httpoecdorgpisadatabase-instructions.htm, 1 March 2022.
- Okagaki, L., Frensch, P. (1998). Parenting and Children's School Achievement: A Multiethnic Perspective. American Educational Research Journal, 35 (1), 123-144. Retrieved from: https://www.jstor.org/stable/1163454?seq=1#metadata_info_tab_contents, 9 February 2022.
- Ozturk, I. (2001). The role of education in economic development: a theoretical perspective. Retrieved from https://mpra.ub.unimuenchen.de/9023/1/THE_ROLE_OF_EDUCATION_IN_ECONOMIC_DEVELOPME NT.pdf , 19 December 2021.
- Patall, E., Cooper, H., Robinson, J. (2008). Parent Involvement in Homework: A Research Synthesis. *Review of Educational Research*, 78 (4), 1039-1101. Retrieved from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.3102/0034654308325185, 8 January 2022.
- Pearl, J. (2009). Causality : models, reasoning, and inference. Cambridge: Cambridge University
Press,Press,(2).Retrievedfrom:

https://www.cambridge.org/core/books/causality/B0046844FAE10CBF274D4ACBDAE B5F5B, 11 January 2022.

- Phillipson, S., Phillipson, S. (2007). Academic Expectations, Belief of Ability, and Involvement by Parents as Predictors of Child Achievement: A cross-cultural comparison. *Educational Psychology*, 27 (3) ,329-348. Retrieved from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/233238252_Academic_Expectations_Belief_of _Ability_and_Involvement_by_Parents_as_Predictors_of_Child_Achievement_A_crosscultural_comparison, 9 February 2022.
- Pinantoan, A. (2011). How Parental Involvement Affects Academic Achievement. Retrieved from: https://www.teachthought.com/learning/the-effect-of-parental-involvement-on-academicachievement/ ,8 January 2022.
- Pomerantz, E., Moorman, E., Litwack, S. (2007). The How, Whom, and Why of Parents' Involvement in Children's Academic Lives: More Is Not Always Better. *Review of Educational Research*, 77 (3), 373-410. Retrieved from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.3102/003465430305567, 8 January 2022.
- Reimer, D., Sortkear, B., Oskarsson, M., Nilsen, T., Rasmusson, M., Nissinen, K. (2018). Northern Lights on TIMSS and PISA 2018. Nordic Council of Ministers. Retrieved from: https://play.google.com/books/reader?id=r7SBDwAAQBAJ&hl=ru&printsec=frontcover #v=onepage&q=I%20used%20the%20average%20of%20the%20ten%20plausible%20va lues%20for%20the%20student%20score%20from%20the%20PISA%20science%20test& f=false, 27 February 2022.
- Reynolds, A., Shlafer, R. (2009). Parent involvement in early education. *Handbook of School-Family Partnerships*, 1, 1-17. Retrieved from: https://www.taylorfrancis.com/chapters/edit/10.4324/9780203876046-14/parent-involvement-early-education-arthur-reynolds-rebecca-shlafer , 26 December 2021.
- Psacharopoulos, G., Collis, V., Patrinos, H., Vegas, E. (2021). The COVID-19 Cost of School Closures in Earnings and Income across the World. *Comparative Education Review*, 65 (2). Retrieved from: https://www.journals.uchicago.edu/doi/10.1086/713540, 22 March 2022.
- Psacharopoulos, G., Collis, V., Patrinos, H., Vegas, E. (2020). Lost Wages: The COVID-19 Cost of School Closures. *Global Labor Organization (GLO) Discussion Paper*, No. 548. Retrieved from: https://www.econstor.eu/bitstream/10419/217486/1/GLO-DP-0548.pdf, 22 March 2022.
- Sanders, M., Epstein, J. (1998). School-Family-Community partnerships in middle and high schools. *CRESPAR*, 22. Retrieved from: https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/ED423330.pdf , 5 January 2022.
- Sapungan, G., Sapungan, R. (2014). Parental Involvement in Child's Education: Importance, Barriers and Benefits. Asian Journal of Management Sciences & Education, 3 (2). Retrieved from: http://www.ajmse.leenaluna.co.jp/AJMSEPDFs/Vol.3(2)/AJMSE2014(3.2-05).pdf, 25 December 2021.

- Schlotter, M., Schwerdt, G., Woessmann, L. (2011). Econometric methods for causal evaluation of education policies and practices: a non-technical guide. *Education Economics*, 19(2), 109-137. Retrieved from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/pdf/10.1080/09645292.2010.511821?needAccess=true , 11 January 2022.
- Schoeneberger, J. (2012). Longitudinal Attendance Patterns: Developing High School Dropouts. *The Clearing House: A Journal of Educational Strategies, Issues and Ideas*, 85 (1), 7-14. Retrieved from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/254350467_Longitudinal_Attendance_Patterns _Developing_High_School_Dropouts, 13 January 2022.
- Sebastian, J., Moon, J., Cunningham, M. (2016). The relationship of school-based parental involvement with student achievement: a comparison of principal and parent survey reports from PISA 2012. *Educational Studies*, vol. 43, no. 2, pp. 123-146. Retrieved from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/03055698.2016.1248900?casa_token=wo0 9u_4c0RIAAAAA%3AMc-iEdlV5XKqbH9AUNINCXBoSJy0GeoUow_bTYRW6f_-JXn8B3vwfxvVOq3VCVZ7ATwIf4GIrQzW, 17 March 2022.
- Shumow, L., Miller, J. (2001). Parents' At-Home and At-School Academic Involvement with Young Adolescents. *The Journal of Early Adolescence*, 21 (1), 68-91. Retrieved from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/0272431601021001004, 11 January 2022.
- Shumow, L., Lyutykh, E., Schmidt, J. (2011). Predictors and Outcomes of Parental Involvement with High School Students in Science. *The School Community Journal*, 21 (2). Retrieved from: https://files.eric.ed.gov/fulltext/EJ957128.pdf, 16 January 2022.
- Simpkins, S., Fredricks, J., Eccles, J. (2012). Charting the Eccles' expectancy-value model from mothers' beliefs in childhood to youths' activities in adolescence. Retrieved from: https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/22390665/, 3 March 2022.
- Singh, K., Bickley, P., Keith, T., Keith, P., Trivette, P., Anderson, E. (1995). The Effects of Four Components of Parental Involvement on Eighth-Grade Student Achievement: Structural Analysis of NELS-88 Data. *School Psychology Review*, 24 (2), 299-317. Retrieved from: https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/abs/10.1080/02796015.1995.12085769 , 11 January 2022.
- Smokoska, L. 2020. An Investigation of Parental Involvement and Student Academic Achievement in Middle School. Retrieved from: https://thekeep.eiu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=5788&context=theses, 27 December 2021.
- Sukhdeep, G., Reynolds, A. (1999). Educational Expectations and School Achievement of Urban African American Children. *Journal of School Psychology*, 37 (4), 403-424. Retrieved from: https://eric.ed.gov/?id=EJ607659, 3 March 2022.
- Sy, S., Rowley, S., Schul, J. (2007). Predictors of Parent Involvement across Contexts in Asian American and European American Families. *Journal of Comparative Family Studies*, 38 (1), 1-28. Retrieved from: https://utpjournals.press/doi/10.3138/jcfs.38.1.1a, 4 February 2022.

- Tovar-García , E. (2012). Approaches to study educational and occupational trajectories and outcomes. *Working Papers on Culture, Education and Human Development*, 8 (2), 1-19. Retrieved from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/264850651_Approaches_to_study_educational _and_occupational_trajectories_and_outcomes , 2 January 2022.
- UNESCO. (2011). International Standard Classification of Education . Retrieved from: http://uis.unesco.org/sites/default/files/documents/international-standard-classificationof-education-isced-2011-en.pdf, 4 March 2022.
- Vartanian, T., Karen, D., Walker, P., Cadge, W. (2007). Early Factors Leading to College Graduation for Asians and Non-Asians in the United States. *The Sociological Quarterly*, 48 (2), 165-197. Retrieved from: https://www.jstor.org/stable/40220096?seq=1#metadata_info_tab_contents, 9 February 2022.
- Vincent, C., Neis, B. (2011). Work and family life: parental work schedules and child academic achievement. *Community Work & Family Work & Family*, 4, 449-468. Retrieved from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/233081917_Work_and_family_life_parental_w ork_schedules_and_child_academic_achievement, 29 January 2022.
- West, A. (2007). Poverty and educational achievement: why do children from low-income families tend to do less well at school? *The Journal of Poverty and Social Justice*, 15 (3), 283-297. Retrieved from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/228363029_Poverty_and_educational_achieve ment_why_do_children_from_low-income_families_tend_to_do_less_well_at_school , 13 January 2022.
- William, J. (2003). A Meta-Analysis: The Effects of Parental Involvement on Minority Children's Academic Achievement. *Education and Urban Society*, 35 (2), 202-218. Retrieved from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/0013124502239392, 7 January 2022.
- Woessmann, L., Hanushek, E. (2020). The economic impacts of learning losses. OECD Education Working Papers, 225. Retrieved from: https://www.oecd.org/education/The-economicimpacts-of-coronavirus-covid-19-learning-losses.pdf, 22 December 2021.
- Wooldridge, J. (2000). Econometric Analysis of Cross Section and Panel Data. *The MIT Press*, 236-237. Retrieved from: https://ipcig.org/evaluation/apoio/Wooldridge%20-%20Crosssection%20and%20Panel%20Data.pdf, 11 January 2022.
- Yamamoto, Y., Holloway, S. (2010). Parental Expectations and Children's Academic Performance in Sociocultural Context. *Educational Psychology Review*, 22, 189–214. Retrieved from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10648-010-9121-z, 19 February 2022.
- Yuxuan Hu, K., Meng, A. (2018). Agglomerative Hierarchical Clustering using Ward Linkage. Retrieved from: https://jbhender.github.io/Stats506/F18/GP/Group10.html, 3 March 2022.

Zedan, R. (2012). Parent Involvement according to Education level, Socio-Economic Situation, and Number of Family Members Authors. *The Journal of Educational Enquiry*, 11 (1), 13-28. Retrieved from: https://ojs.unisa.edu.au/index.php/EDEQ/article/view/636, 27 December 2021.

APPENDICES

Appendix 1. Non-exclusive licence

A non-exclusive licence for reproduction and publication of a graduation thesis¹

I Jekaterina Maslennikova

1. Grant Tallinn University of Technology free licence (non-exclusive licence) for my thesis

"Parental involvement and school students' outcomes",

supervised by Simona Ferraro,

1.1 to be reproduced for the purposes of preservation and electronic publication of the graduation thesis, incl. to be entered in the digital collection of the library of Tallinn University of Technology until expiry of the term of copyright;

1.2 to be published via the web of Tallinn University of Technology, incl. to be entered in the digital collection of the library of Tallinn University of Technology until expiry of the term of copyright.

2. I am aware that the author also retains the rights specified in clause 1 of the non-exclusive licence.

3. I confirm that granting the non-exclusive licence does not infringe other persons' intellectual property rights, the rights arising from the Personal Data Protection Act or rights arising from other legislation.

_____(date)

¹ The non-exclusive licence is not valid during the validity of access restriction indicated in the student's application for restriction on access to the graduation thesis that has been signed by the school's dean, except in case of the university's right to reproduce the thesis for preservation purposes only. If a graduation thesis is based on the joint creative activity of two or more persons and the co-author(s) has/have not granted, by the set deadline, the student defending his/her graduation thesis consent to reproduce and publish the graduation thesis in compliance with clauses 1.1 and 1.2 of the non-exclusive licence, the non-exclusive license shall not be valid for the period.